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Instructions:
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check the box to indicate such pages are attached.
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the answers apply; lack of specificity may result in non-compliance.

4. Please do not duplicate entries within Section 5.
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The material omitted on Appx252 of the Addendum is the amount
of Gators Hobby Lobby purchased from Orly.

The material omitted on Appx253 of the Addendum is the amount
of Gators Orly sold.

The material omitted on Appx311 of the Addendum is pricing
information for Orly’s Gators.

The material omitted on Appx353-364 of the Addendum is Crocs’s
domestic-industry related sales and expenses.

The material omitted on Appx371 of the Addendum is Orly’s and
Hobby Lobby’s sales and purchase information for the Gators.

The material omitted on Appx372 of the Addendum is Amoji’s
inventory and value of ACG in the U.S.

The material omitted on Appx374 of the Addendum 1s the bond

amount Crocs’s sought for each of the Accused Products.
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TABLE OF ABBREVIATIONS

Abbreviation

Description

’328 Registration

U.S. Trademark No. 5,149,328

"875 Registration

U.S. Trademark No. 5,273,875

3D Marks

Collectively, the 328 Registration and the '875
Registration

Accused Products

Gator, Redesign, AGC, and each of the
Defaulting Respondents’ Accused Products

Active Respondents

Orly Shoe Corp., Hobby Lobby Stores, Inc. and
Quanzhou ZhengDe Network Corp., d/b/a Amoji

AGC Amoj1’s Garden Clog Accused Product
Amoji Quanzhou ZhengDe Network Corp., d/b/a Amoji
Commission U.S. International Trade Commission
Defaultin Jinjiang Anao Footwear Co., Ltd., Huizhou
Respon den%s Xinshunzu Shoes Co., Ltd., Star Bay Group, Inc.,
P and La Modish Boutique
Gator Orly’s and Hobby Lobby’s Gator Accused Product
Hobby Lobby Hobby Lobby Stores, Inc.
D Initial Determination issued by the ALdJ, dated
January 9, 2023
.. Investigation No. 337-TA-1270 before the
Investigation .
Commission
Orly Orly Shoe Corp.
Redesign Orly’s Redesign Accused Product
USPTO

United States Patent and Trademark Office

-X-
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Abbreviation Description

Word Mark U.S. Trademark No. 3,836,415

All emphases added unless indicated.

-Xi-
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STATEMENT OF RELATED CASES

There is no other appeal in or from the same proceeding in the U.S.
International Trade Commission, Investigation No. 337-TA-1270,
previously before this or any other appellate court.

The following case will be directly affected by this Court’s decision
in the pending appeal: Crocs, Inc. v. Cape Robbin, Inc. et al, Case No.
1:21-¢v-01890-RM-NRN (D. Colo.). This case involves the assertion of
Crocs’s 3D Marks and its Word Mark, and i1s stayed until the
determination of the Investigation becomes final and all subsequent

appeals have been exhausted.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction to review a final determination of the

Commission pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1295(a)(6).
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INTRODUCTION

In the underlying Investigation, the Commission, over a strong
dissent, found that Active Respondents’ significantly similar (indeed,

indistinguishable) shoes did not infringe Crocs’s 3D Marks:

’328 Registration ’875 Registration
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Orly Gator AGC

The Commission reached this conclusion, notwithstanding several
findings favorable to Crocs on the most probative DuPont Factors,
Factors 1-3, largely because it determined that a control survey —
conducted by Orly’s expert, Wallace — implied that the source of
significant customer confusion over Respondents shoes had to be some
other aspect of the shoe than the 3D Marks. This was an error because,
as the dissent correctly and cogently explained, the Wallace control was
not a control. It literally copied elements of the 3D Marks and created an

overall impression confusingly similar to the 3D Marks:

- 3.
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’875 Registration Wallace Control
Y
. ~
¥ =
> : ®)

Because of its copying of and similarity to multiple aspects of the 3D
Marks, the Wallace control shoe tested confusion with the 3D Marks,
rather than acting as a control to assess if there was a reason other than
the marks that more than 7 in 10 consumers indisputably confused the
source of the Orly Gator as Crocs. See U.S. Polo Ass’n, Inc. v. PRL USA
Holdings, Inc., 800 F. Supp. 2d 515, 534 (S.D.N.Y. 2011) (*USPA”)
(“controls were improper in that they included the very elements being
assessed”).

As the dissent further noted, the Commission erred when it
theorized, without evidentiary support, that the high levels of confusion
as to the source of the Active Respondents’ shoes, as evidenced by the
surveys conducted by Crocs’s expert, Pittaoulis, and Orly’s expert,

Wallace, could only be attributable to the generic elements of a clog and



Case: 24-1300 Document: 19 Page: 21 Filed: 06/10/2024

not the distinctive elements of the 3D Marks. This explanation is illogical
because generic elements, by definition, are not source identifying.

Beyond the survey evidence, which the Commission analyzed in the
context of the actual confusion factors, Factors 7, 8, and 12, the
Commission erroneously discounted direct evidence of actual confusion.
As one example, the Commission rejected evidence of social media posts
where users identified the Hobby Lobby/Orly Gator as “hobby lobby
crocs” and “cheap white crocs at hobby lobby” on the basis that the posters
failed to capitalize the word “Crocs” and thus must have been using the
term generically. The dissent disagreed, noting that the “suggestion that
these consumers were referring to ‘crocs’ as a category of shoe” 1is
inconsistent with a finding that the CROCS Word Mark is not generic,
but rather is famous.

Similarly, the Commission thought little of Orly’s former COO
confusing his own shoes for Crocs at his deposition. Once again, the
dissent disagreed, explaining that the impact of such testimony is
heightened precisely because it was given “in a deliberative setting in
which all attention is focused on that very issue,” i.e., the similarity of

the Gator to the 3D Marks.
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The Commission also erred in finding that DuPont Factor 4
(conditions of sale), Factor 5 (fame of the mark), and Factor 13 (intent to
deceive) all weighed against a finding of confusion. On Factor 4, the
stated price difference on which the Commaission relied to find ‘different’
conditions in fact supports similar conditions of sale, not different
conditions of sale. And, conditions of sale are irrelevant to post-sale
confusion, which Crocs also alleged here.

On Factor 5, the Commission erred as a matter of law where 1t
rejected all evidence of fame that involved the extraordinary success of
Crocs shoes on the basis that the fame of the article cannot be considered
to show the fame of the mark applied to that article.

On Factor 13, the Commission erred factually and legally by, first,
improperly discounting Respondents’ intentional copying as evidence of
intent and, second, weighing Factor 13 against a likelihood of confusion,
rather than neutral, on the basis that Crocs had not presented smoking
gun evidence of intent to deceive. Daddy’s Junky Music Stores, Inc. v. Big
Daddy’s Family Music Center, 109 F.3d 275, 287 (6th Cir. 1997) (absence
of intent to confuse is largely irrelevant to determining if consumers are

likely to be confused).
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The dissent correctly identified each of the preceding errors and
persuasively explained why the Commission’s analysis missed the mark.
This Court, aligned with the reasoning of the dissent, should reverse.

In addition, the Commission erred by declining to issue a GEO,
even though the ALJ found (and the Commission did not disturb the
finding that) a GEO was warranted upon a showing of a violation. In
declining to issue a GEO, the sole stated basis of the Commaission was
that Crocs was not eligible for a GEO because it had not met its burden
to show a violation by any Respondent. This was an unsustainable
conclusion where Crocs did, in fact, submit incontestable evidence of a
violation by the Defaulting Respondents.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Did the Commission err in determining that the Defaulting
Respondents did not violate Section 337 as the sole basis for denying
Crocs’s request for a GEO?

Did the Commission err in determining that the Active
Respondents did not infringe the 3D Marks, notwithstanding the Active

Respondents’ sales of nearly identical footwear, based on the
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Commission’s reliance on a control survey that copied aspects of and was
too similar to the overall appearance of the 3D Marks?

Did the Commission err in concluding that the Active Respondents’
footwear do not dilute the 3D Marks due to a lack of fame?

Is Crocs’s appeal timely when it filed its notice of appeal on
December 22, 2023, within 60 days after the Commaission’s determination

became final on November 14, 20237

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Crocs’s 3D Marks, depicted below, encompass one of the most

iconic footwear designs in the world.

’328 Registration | ’875 Registration

Appx67391; Appx68500. The 3D Marks depict a sloping front section
containing an instantly recognizable pattern of holes. Both 3D Marks
also feature a clean sharp demarcation between this sloping horizontal

field of holes and the vertical strip running around the front of the shoe

. 8.
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that is further patterned with both holes and slight texture. Together,
these elements create a boxy profile for the 3D Marks reflecting the
distinctive upturned toe (the “croc”’-odile snout) around the front of the
shoe. Id. The 875 Registration is narrower than the 328 Registration in
that it also includes a textured strip around the rear heel portion of the
shoe and a decorative band along the strap.

The 3D Marks are visible from virtually any angle of Crocs’s Classic
Clog, Appx31759; Appx21816-21817 at 298:17-299:6, and predominate
the overall design of the shoe, making the Classic Clog instantly

recognizable:

Crocs Classic Clog

Appx68904-68905.

©
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As explained by Crocs’s former Vice President of Sales:
[T]he design of the Classic has always stood out. It’s easy to
spot a pair of Classic Clogs. There was nothing like them
when they came out and they were polarizing at first. Some
people didn’t know what to make of them, but even people who
thought they were ugly recognized them.
Appx31722.
As a result of its iconic design, the Classic Clog bearing the 3D
Marks has enjoyed immediate and consistent commercial success since

its launch in 2002. Crocs’s advertising has prominently featured the 3D

Marks, and the 3D Marks also feature prominently in widespread media

attention.

- 10 -
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Save the Crocs

———— . the atmosphere

Edted by
y Rebecca Landwehr ‘

Appx34278-34311; Appx68934-68938; Appx69223; Appx69102-69103;
Appx63008-63019; Appx63025-63037; Appx63060-63068; Appx63088-
63097. The Classic Clog remains one of the most wanted and best-selling
footwear products of the 21st century with hundreds of millions of pairs
sold, including more than 90 million pairs from 2018 to 2021 alone.
Appx66415-416; Appx49382; Appx295 (citing Appx31722). Confirming
the shoe’s popularity, Crocs has received numerous awards and accolades
for its signature shoe bearing the 3D Marks. Appx66956-66960 (2005
“Item of the Year”); Appx68913 (2005 Brand of the Year); Appx68982-
68984 (“Icons in the Making” (2008)), Appx68976-68978 (One of “50
Shoes that Changed the World” (2009)); Appx69314 (One of Time
Magazine’s 50 Worst Inventions (2010)); Appx63127-63135 (2021 Shoe of

the Year).

-11 -
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A. The Accused Products Are Nearly Identical to the
Classic Clog

The Accused Products are exemplary of the kind of knockoffs that
have entered the marketplace, seeking to trade on the Classic Clog’s
immense popularity. They are nearly identical to the 3D Marks and the

Classic Clog:

-12 -
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’328 Registration ’875 Registration Crocs Classic Clog

-~
¥ “f\i ’_:;3;:' ;

N . , -

Gator AGC Redesign

L) .

Star Bay La Modish

Appx68295; Appx69654; Appx96655; Appx67286-67289; Appx96658;
Appx666; Appx96664; Appx96673; Appx96681; Appx96691; Appx95892;

Appx96693.
Not only do the Accused Products look similar to the Classic Clog

and the 3D Marks, but each Accused Product is the same type of good

-13 -
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Appx276; Appx300; Appx303. Specifically, on likelihood of confusion, the
ID found that DuPont Factors 1, 2, and 3 (similarity of the marks,
similarity of goods, and trade channels) favored a confusion finding for
the Gator and the AGC, but not the Redesign. Appx237-245, Appx266-
267, Appx269-274. The ID found that Factor 6 (similar marks in use on
similar goods) was neutral, and that Factor 4 (conditions of sale), Factor
5 (fame), Factor 9 (variety of goods), Factors 7, 8, and 12 (actual
confusion), and Factor 13 (intent to confuse) weighed against a likelihood
of confusion. Appx262, Appx268, Appx274. Finding that Crocs had
forfeited its allegations against Defaulting Respondents, the ID also
failed to issue any remedies, although the ID found that a GEO would be
warranted in the event of a finding of violation. Appx288-289, Appx366-
375.

1. The Commission’s Final Determination

The Commission modified several aspects of the ID, but ultimately
affirmed the determination of no likelihood of confusion and no dilution.
Appx30-47. The Commission reversed the determination that Crocs had

waived its argument that the Defaulting Respondents infringed the 3D

-15 -
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Marks, Appx43-45, but nevertheless determined that Crocs failed to
demonstrate a violation and determined not to issue a GEO. Appx49-51.

The Commission agreed that the Gator was significantly similar in
overall appearance to the 3D Marks, but found the AGC less so. Appx30-
31. The Commission then found that Factor 5 (fame) and Factor 9
(variety of goods embodying the mark) were neutral. Appx32; Appx42-43.
With respect to Factors 7, 8, and 12, the actual confusion factors, the
Commission alternatively found that: (1) “[a]t a minimum . . . neither the
Pittaoulis survey nor the Wallace survey provides reliable, affirmative
evidence of a likelihood of confusion for the Accused Products,” weighed
against a finding of infringement; and (2) these factors “weigh against
finding a likelihood of confusion between the Accused Products and the
3D Marks.” Appx42. This finding is internally inconsistent. Although not
clearly finding the Wallace survey reliable, the Commission nevertheless
relies almost entirely on it to determine that the Gator does not infringe
the 3D Marks. Further still, the Commission appears to have relied on
the Wallace Survey as support for its conclusion that the AGC does not
infringe the 3D Marks — even though the Wallace Survey did not test

that product. Appx34-43.

.16 -
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On dilution, the Commission, like the ALJ, did not assess Crocs’s
claim beyond the threshold fame inquiry, and determined that the 3D
Marks were not famous. Appx46-49, Appx293-299.

Finally, the Commission found that Crocs had not waived its
arguments against Defaulting Respondents. Appx44-45. Nevertheless,
the Commission determined, without any analysis, that Crocs did not
prove that the Defaulting Respondents violated Section 337 for purposes
of issuing a GEO under Section 337(d). Appx50. The Commission instead
issued LEO’s against all four Defaulting Respondents, and CDO’s against
two. Appx50-51 & n.17.

2. The Dissent

Commissioner Kearns disagreed with the Commission’s
determination that the Gator and the AGC do not infringe the 3D Marks,
finding that both were substantially similar to the 3D Mark (Factor 1)
and were the same type of goods (Factor 2). Appx55; Appx62; Appx81-84.
Commissioner Kearns would have given these factors greater weight. Id.

Commissioner Kearns also disagreed with the Commission’s
findings as to fame (Factor 5) and actual confusion (Factors 7, 8, and 12).

Appxb56-61; Appx64-71; Appx72-78. Among other things, Commissioner

217 -
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Kearns recognized the Catch-22 inherent in the Commission’s analysis.
Appx65. On the one hand, the Commission relied on the trademark
examiner’s statement that the Classic Clog’s clog overall silhouette is a
generic design element that is not eligible for trademark protection.
Appx32, Appx34. On the other, the Commission concluded that the
undisputed confusion between the Accused Products and Classic Clog
was likely based on the very same (supposedly generic) clog silhouette,
not the distinctive 3D Marks. See Appx41-42. The Commission also
required Crocs to demonstrate, contrary to well-established law, that
fame was attributable to the 3D Marks without being able to rely on the
Classic Clog product embodying those marks. Appx64-71.

Commissioner Kearns also identified errors in the Commission’s
analysis of several other Factors. Specifically, the Commission should
have found that: Factor 4 had little or no relevance to post-sale confusion;
the 3D Marks are famous both for purposes of Factor 5 and Crocs’s
dilution claim; and Factor 13 weighed in favor of, or at least not against,
a finding of likelihood of confusion. Appx63; Appx78-79; Appx63-71;

Appx89-90.

.18 -
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SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

First, the Commission erred in determining that the Defaulting
Respondents did not violate Section 337 when analyzing whether to issue
a GEO under Section 1337(d)(2). Despite evidence satisfying all Section
337 requirements, the Commaission determined that Crocs did not meet
its burden without analyzing any evidence or offering any explanation
for its decision. Appx43-45; Appx50.

Second, the Commission erred in determining that the Accused
Products did not infringe Crocs’s 3D Marks. With respect to the Gator,
the Commission determined that Factors 1-3 demonstrated a likelihood
of confusion, but underweighted these factors in favor of erroneous
findings that Factors 7, 8, and 12, the actual confusion factors, and Factor
4 weighed against a likelihood of confusion. Not only was the
Commission’s analysis wrong as to Factor 4, but the Commission erred
in giving that factor any weight to post-sale confusion, as Crocs alleged.
The Commaission most significantly erred in putting dispositive weight on
the Wallace control survey, which improperly incorporated elements of
the 3D Marks and its overall appearance. The Commission also:

1mproperly discounted indisputably high confusion levels in both surveys

-19-
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of Orly’s Accused Products, which evidenced that consumers are, in fact,
very confused about the source of those shoes; erred in determining that
the 3D Marks were not famous, Factor 5; and erred in its analysis of the
Factor 13 evidence, concerning intent to deceive, and in weighing that
factor against a likelihood of confusion. The Commission made the same
and additional errors when analyzing infringement of the AGC and
Redesign.

Third, the Commission erred in determining no dilution on the
basis that Crocs had not met the lower standard of fame under the
likelihood of confusion test. The Commission’s fame analysis was
premised on an erroneous legal requirement that fame evidence relate
solely to the asserted marks, and the Commission ignored the
overwhelming evidence of the Classic Clogs’ fame.

Fourth, Crocs’s appeal is timely because it was filed within 60 days
after the Commission’s determination became final following the

expiration of the Presidential review period.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Federal Circuit reviews the Commission’s legal determinations

de novo without deference. Converse, Inc. v. ITC, 909 F.3d 1110, 1115

- 20 -
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(Fed. Cir. 2018); Crocs, Inc. v. ITC, 598 F.3d 1294, 1302 (Fed. Cir. 2010).
The Federal Circuit therefore applies a de novo standard of review to the
infringement and dilution issues in this appeal, including likelihood of
confusion, which the Federal Circuit treats as a question of law. Zheng
Cai v. Diamond Hong, Inc., 901 F.3d 1367, 1372 (Fed. Cir. 2018).

To determine whether a likelihood of confusion exists, courts look
to the thirteen factors espoused in In re E.I. DuPont DeNemours & Co.,
476 F.2d 1357 (CCPA 1973). The Federal Circuit reviews factual findings,
including the Commission’s findings on each DuPont factor, for
substantial evidence. Zheng Cai, 901 F.3d at 1372. “Substantial evidence
requires ‘more than a mere scintilla’ and is ‘such relevant evidence as a
reasonable mind would accept as adequate’ to support a conclusion.”
Princeton Vanguard, LLC v. Frito-Lay N. Am., Inc., 786 F.3d 960, 965
(Fed. Cir. 2015) (citing In re Pacer Tech., 338 F.3d 1348, 1349 (Fed. Cir.
2003)) (internal quotation omitted). The Court must “consider the whole
record” by “tak[ing] into account whatever in the record fairly detracts
from 1ts weight.” Universal Camera Corp. v. N.L.R.B., 340 U.S. 474, 488
(1951). Judicial review under this standard “can only take place when the

agency explains its decisions with sufficient precision, including the

-21 -
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underlying factfindings and the agency’s rationale.” Packard Press, Inc.
v. Hewlett-Packard Co., 227 F.3d 1352, 1357 (Fed. Cir. 2000).

Where offered, “[s]Jurvey evidence is subject to review for its
probative value, based on factors including the design of the survey, the
questions asked, and the experience of the surveyor.” In re Hotels.com,
L.P., 573 F.3d 1300, 1305 (Fed. Cir. 2009).

This Court reviews the Commission’s remedy determinations for
whether it 1s “arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise
not in accordance with law.” Hyundai Elecs. Indus. Co. v. ITC, 899 F.2d
1204, 1207 (Fed. Cir. 1990).

ARGUMENT

I. The Commission Erred in Determining that the Defaulting
Respondents Did Not Violate Section 337

Contrary to the ID, the Commission found that Crocs had not
waived its argument that the Defaulting Respondents were infringing
the 3D Marks. Appx43-45. Thus, where the ID also found that, if there
were a violation, a GEO was justified, and where the Commission had
agreed that Crocs had not waived its right to show a violation for the
Defaulting Respondents, a GEO should have issued where Crocs did, in

fact, establish that the Defaulting Respondents were in violation.

- 99 .
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The Commission did not issue a GEO under Section 1337(d)(2),
finding that Crocs “has not met its burden to show a violation under
section 337(d).” Appx43-45, Appx50. The Commission offered no
explanation for its finding and provided no reasoning to justify its
conclusion. This was error. The record shows sufficient evidence of
infringement by the Defaulting Respondents, and further, that the 3D
Marks are valid and Crocs satisfied the domestic industry requirement.
For this reason, the Commission lacked any basis not to issue a GEO,
and its contrary determination should be reversed.

First, Crocs timely submitted substantial evidence that the
Defaulting Respondents’ Accused Products infringe the 3D Marks
because they are likely to confuse consumers. Appx95803-95808.
Specifically, Crocs demonstrated that the Defaulting Respondents’

Accused Products have an appearance nearly identical to the 3D Marks:

.93 .-
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’328 Registration ’875 Registration AGC manufactured
by Jinjiang

La Modish Huizhou Star Bay

Appx67285-67290; Appx67304-27306; Appx95803-95808. Crocs further
demonstrated that consumers actually confused the Defaulting
Respondents’ footwear with authentic Crocs footwear. Id. Moreover,
terminated Respondent Cape Robbin admitted that the same footwear
sold by Defaulting Respondents Huizhou and La Modish infringes the 3D
Marks. Appx96608 n.1; Appx5317-5322; Appx6235 (La Modish i1s a
retailer of Cape Robbin and Huizhou’s “Vigilante” shoe). This unrebutted
evidence of infringement is sufficient to show Defaulting Respondents’

infringement.
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With respect to validity, the Commission’s statement that “Crocs
has not met its burden” cannot apply as to the Defaulting Respondents
because Crocs had no burden regarding validity for marks issued by the
USPTO. Converse, 909 F.3d at 1117 (“For infringement in the period after
registration, the Lanham Act entitles the owner of the registered mark
to a presumption that the mark is valid.”) (citing 15 U.S.C. §§ 1057(b),
1115(a); McCarthy §§ 11:43, 15:34, 32:134). As they were found in
default, the Defaulting Respondents could not have presented an
invalidity defense.

Similarly, Crocs submitted extensive evidence regarding domestic
industry, which the Defaulting Respondents did not oppose. Appx23753-
23776. Thus, Crocs established all of the required predicates for a
determination of violation with no contrary evidence presented.

Crocs also demonstrated that a GEO should issue because “a
widespread pattern of violation” exists. Appx23781-23793. The ID
determined that “the record demonstrates that a GEO 1is necessary to
prevent the circumvention of a limited exclusion order and there i1s a
widespread pattern of infringement.” Appx367. In fact, the ID also

determined that “evidence establishes that business conditions make
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possible a widespread pattern of violation because there is strong market
demand for the Classic Clogs, the importation and sale of infringing
products is profitable, and there are extensive distribution networks
available to distribute and market infringing products.” Appx368.
Consequently, the Commission erred in its determination that Crocs did
not prove a violation. Because this was the sole basis for declining to issue
a GEO, the Commission’s decision not to issue a GEO is properly
reversed.

II. The Commission Erred in Determining that the Active
Respondents Did Not Infringe Crocs’s 3D Marks

A. The Commission Erred in Determining that the Gator
Does Not Infringe Crocs’s 3D Marks

The Commaission erred in its determination that the Gator does not
infringe the 3D Marks.

1. Factors 1-3 Weigh in Favor of a Finding of a
Likelihood of Confusion

a. Factors 1-3 are the Controlling Troika Here

As Commissioner Kearns correctly articulated, “the first DuPont
factor, the similarity or dissimilarity of the marks themselves, may be
dispositive of the issue.” Appx56 (quoting McCarthy on Trademarks and

Unfair Competition §23:79 (5th ed.) (“McCarthy”)). A likelihood of
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confusion is even clearer when similarities exist between the marks and
also the good to which the marks are applied (the second DuPont factor).
Han Beauty, Inc. v. Alberto-Culver Co., 236 F.3d 1333, 1336 (Fed. Cir.
2001) (“While it must consider each factor for which it has evidence, the
[decisionmaker] may focus its analysis on dispositive factors, such as
similarity of the marks and relatedness of the goods.”); Appx56. These are
“two key considerations” in the DuPont analysis. In re SL&E Training
Stable, Inc., 88 U.S5.P.Q.2d 1216, 2008 WL 4107225, at *2 (T.T.A.B. 2008);
Appx56-57 & n.1 (citing USMCA, Article 20.19).

Indeed, where both the marks and the goods in question are highly
similar or identical, likelihood of confusion is at its highest. In re Dixie
Restaurants, Inc., 105 F.3d 1405, 1407 (Fed. Cir. 1997) (holding that,
where dominant portions of the marks in question were identical and
both were used for restaurant services, “the two marks are likely to cause
confusion” regardless of remaining DuPont factors); Fort James
Operating Co. v. Royal Paper Converting, Inc., 83 U.S.P.Q.2d 1624, 2007
WL 1676779, at *6 (T.T.A.B. 2007) (paper towel patterns likely to be
confused with registered trademarked paper towel pattern based on first

3 factors); adidas America, Inc. v. Skechers USA, Inc., 149 F. Supp. 3d
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similarity between two marks and the strength of the marks, despite no
evidence of actual confusion and no survey evidence); Han Beauty, 236
F.3d at 1336 (similarity of the marks and relatedness of the goods can be
dispositive factors); Appx56-61. A finding of infringement can instead be
“based on an inference arising from a judicial comparison of the
conflicting marks themselves and the context of their use in the
marketplace.” McCarthy §23:63; Appx57. Consequently, the first three
DuPont factors can be dispositive even in the face of survey evidence,
especially where the survey evidence is flawed in some manner. adidas
America, Inc., 149 F. Supp. 3d at 1239-46; see also Hotels.com, 573 F.3d
at 1305 (“Survey evidence is subject to review for its probative value,
based on factors including the design of the survey, the questions asked,
and the experience of the surveyor.”).

It makes sense that similarity of marks, goods and channels can be
dispositive because courts resolve “doubts about the likelihood of
confusion against the newcomer because the newcomer has the
opportunity and obligation to avoid confusion with existing marks.”

Hewlett-Packard Co. v. Packard Press, Inc., 281 F.3d 1261, 1265 (Fed.
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Cir. 2002); see also Lambert Pharmacal Co. v. Bolton Chem. Corp., 219 F.

325, 326 (S.D.N.Y. 1915); Appx61.

b. Factors 1-3 Demonstrate a Likelihood of
Confusion

Here, the Commission correctly acknowledged that Factors 1-3 all
leaned in favor of a likelihood of confusion for the Gator.
For Factor 1, the Gator is nearly indistinguishable from the 3D

Marks:
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’328 Registration ’875 Registration

Appx67391; Appx68500; Appx96691; Appx95892; Appx96664;

Appx67286; Appx30.

The Commission also acknowledged that Factor 2 (similarity and
nature of goods) favors a likelihood of confusion because both products

are “EVA clogs or molded, clog-type footwear.” Appx31. However, the
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Commission erred in “assign[ing Factor 2] lesser weight because the
trademark examiner found the clog to be a common feature of generic
waterproof strap clogs that is not entitled to trademark protection.”
Appx31. No authority supports this conclusion, and it is illogical.
Similarity between the goods to which the mark is applied is not
impacted at all by whether the underlying good itself is also separately
protectible. Appx62-63 & n.5. (“[I]t is typically not the case that the good
with which the mark is in use is itself also entitled to trademark
protection — and yet that has not prevented the courts from according
this factor considerable weight, particularly where both the marks and
the goods are both similar.”). Analyzed correctly, Factor 2 greatly favors
a likelihood of confusion.

The Commission did find that Factor 3 also favors a finding of
likelihood of confusion because the Gator and the Classic Clog are
marketed and sold in similar trade channels. Appx244-245, Appx27,
Appx43.

Taken together, and especially when correcting the Commission’s
error as to the weight to give Factor 2, the Commaission’s findings that

Factors 1-3 weigh in favor of a likelihood of confusion are more than
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sufficient to establish infringement. Han Beauty, 236 F.3d at 1336; SL&E
Training Stable, 2008 WL 4107225, at *2; Dixie Restaurants, 105 F.3d at
1407; Fort James, 2007 WL 1676779, at *2-6; adidas, 149 F. Supp. 3d at
1246.

2. The Commission Erred as to Factors 7, 8 and 12

The Commission found that the actual confusion factors — Factors
7, 8 and 12 — weighed against a finding of a likelihood of confusion and
relied heavily on that finding to ultimately conclude that there was not a
likelihood of confusion. Appx42. This finding constitutes error, as does
the Commission’s nearly exclusive reliance on a control survey by Orly’s
expert, Wallace, to decide that it was not the 3D Marks that caused the
extraordinary confusion as to source of Respondents’ shoes demonstrated
by the survey evidence presented by both sides.

a. The Wallace Survey

Here, both Crocs and Orly offered into evidence surveys on the
Gator to ascertain whether survey participants identified Crocs as the
source. In these surveys, over 7 in 10 survey participants were confused
as to source, confirming that actual confusion existed over whether the

Gator came from Crocs. Appx67302; Appx80175-80176.
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Both Crocs and Orly also offered “control” surveys to test whether
confusion as to the source of the Orly is attributable to the 3D Marks or
something else. Importantly, a proper control does not contain the 3D
Marks or have an overall appearance similar to the 3D Marks. The Crocs
survey showed that the 3D Marks likely caused at least some of the
confusion around the Gators. Appx67302-67303. The Wallace control
survey did not, and it was the sole evidence presented in the
Investigation suggesting that something other than the Gator’s copying
of the 3D Marks caused over 70% of surveyed consumers to believe that
the Gator came from Crocs. As the dissent correctly explained, the
Commission’s reliance on this Wallace control survey was error.

First, as courts and commentators have observed, surveys
conducted to measure consumer perception are not infallible.
Indianapolis Colts, Inc. v. Metro. Balt. Football Club Ltd. P’ship, 34 F.3d
410, 414-15 (7th Cir. 1994) (Posner, J.) (“To help judges strike the
balance, the parties to trademark disputes frequently as here hire
professionals in marketing or applied statistics to conduct surveys of
consumers.... The battle of experts that ensues 1is frequently

unedifying.”); McCarthy §24:106 (“[S]Jurveys are not indisputably
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accurate measures of public perception. It is no secret that survey
percentages can vary widely depending on which group of people are
asked questions phrased in various ways.”). Improper framing of a survey
“reduces the probative value of the results.” Royal Crown Co. v. The Coca-
Cola Co., 892 F.3d 1358, 1371 (Fed. Cir. 2018) (reversing TTAB decision
premised in part on flawed survey results); see also Scotts Co. v. United
Indus. Corp., 315 F.3d 264, 280 (4th Cir. 2002) (“[D]eficiencies in the
survey’s design, particularly when considered in light of the survey’s
failure to focus on the critical question, weaken the relevance and
credibility of the survey evidence to the point that it sheds no light on the
critical question in this case.”). This Court, like many others, has held
that a flawed survey also fails to provide substantial evidence. See Royal
Crown, 892 F.3d at 1370-71; Hotels.com, 573 F.3d at 1305; Scotts Co., 315
F.3d at 280. Overreliance on flawed survey data is error.

Second, a fundamental precept in the design of a confusion survey
1s that the control must not retain the overall appearance or elements of
the thing being tested. If the control breaks this rule, as did the Wallace
survey on which the Commission relied, it will artificially inflate control

group levels, such that the survey cannot be relied upon to calculate
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overall net levels of confusion. See USPA, 800 F. Supp. 2d at 534
(concluding that “controls were improper in that they included the very
elements being assessed”); Acad. of Motion Pictures Arts & Scis. v.
GoDaddy.com, Inc., No. CV 10-3738 ABC (CWx), 2013 WL 12122803, at
*4 (C.D. Cal. June 21, 2013) (“AMPAS”) (use of too similar a control in
confusion study rendered the entire survey unreliable); Jacob Jacoby,
Experimental Design and the Selection of Controls in Trademark and
Deceptive Advertising Surveys, 92 Trademark Rep. 890, 931-32 (2002)
(“Jacoby”) (“[I]t 1s generally understood that it makes no sense to use as
a control a ... product if that product would itself be actionable.”);
Appx71696-71697 (too-similar control cannot measure guesswork or
explain alternative hypotheses); see also Gov’t Emps. Ins. Co. v. Google,
Inc., No. 1:04-CV-507, 2005 WL 1903128, at *5 (E.D. Va. Aug. 8, 2005)
(holding that control stimulus was improper for failing to eliminate
infringing design elements).

The Commission’s error, well-explained by the dissent, was its
failure to recognize that the Wallace survey improperly incorporated
aspects of the 3D Marks into the control. The Wallace survey used the

same FEveready survey design as Crocs’s expert, Dr. Pittaoulis.
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Appx80150. Yet, in contrast to Pittaoulis, the Wallace survey utilized a
control stimulus designed to be strikingly similar to the overall

appearance of the 3D Marks in multiple respects:

’875 Registration Wallace “Control”
Y
&3 v e —
- : Y

Appx80154; Appx69653-69657.

The Wallace survey control failed in at least two respects. First, the
Wallace control directly incorporates elements of the 3D Marks. It
features a distinct U-shaped line that wraps around the toe box and
demarcates the horizontal and the vertical portions of the shoe, retaining
the exact same upturned profile of the shoe at the toe with the same
chunky vertical portion below the upturned toe that gives the 3D Marks

their distinctive crocodile snout appearance:
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. /

i ‘

Upturned Toe

—

—

U-Shaped Profile

)

Appx80154; Appx69653-69657. Second, compounding this similarity, the
Wallace control also failed to sufficiently alter the overall appearance of
the control from the 3D Marks. As can be seen in the side-by-side
comparison, the control maintains essentially the same overall
appearance as the 3D Marks, notwithstanding the slight tweaks made to
certain of the 3D Marks’ “elements.” It incorporates the same type of
pattern of holes on the horizontal portion of the upper that is too similar
to the 3D Mark. Although Wallace changed the number of holes on the
vamp from 13 to 9, and made the holes somewhat oblong, both patterns
occupy the same general surface area of the shoe, and their arrangements
generate the same cascading visual effect, from the vamp area to the toe

box, despite the slight changes in shape and number. Appx22029-22030
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at 390:22-391:12, Appx67315-67317; see also USPA, 800 F. Supp. 2d at
534; AMPAS, 2013 WL 12122803, at *4.

That the Wallace control retained the distinctive look at the front
of the shoe and copies the profile of the shoe that is reflected in solid lines
in the 3D Marks, means that the Wallace control is not valid. See, e.g.,
USPA, 800 F. Supp. 2d 515 at 534. This makes sense because the
surveyor cannot differentiate between those respondents confused
because aspects of the asserted mark are echoed in the control and those
confused for some other reason. If the control cannot differentiate
whether participants might be confused because of similar aspects of the
3D Marks in the control, then the control is not, in fact, controlling for
the 3D Marks. The Commission utterly ignored this fatal flaw in the
Wallace survey control. Appx75-76 (The “Wallace survey is flawed
because the elements of the test and control show that are related to the
3D Marks are too similar to one another.”) (dissent); Appx76 n.15 (“While
marks must be viewed in their entireties, ‘one feature of a mark may be
more significant than another, and it i1s not improper to give more weight

to this dominant feature in determining the commercial impression
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created by the mark.”) (quoting Coach Servs., Inc. v. Triumph Learning
LLC, 668 F.3d 1356, 1368 (Fed. Cir. 2012)).

Though the Commission articulated differences between individual
elements of the control and the 3D Marks (Appx41), those differences do
not erase the similarities, especially where the Commission
acknowledged elsewhere the relative insignificance of, for example, a
difference in the number of holes to the overall appearance:

[O]ne of the differences the Majority describes is that the

Wallace controls have fewer holes than the 3D Marks (nine

holes versus 13). But the Wallace controls have the same

number of holes as the Orly Gator; nevertheless, the ID

disregarded this difference and found the Orly Gator very

similar to the 3D Marks, and the Majority agrees with that
finding.
Appx76-77 n.16.

Furthermore, the unusually high levels of confusion reported in the
Wallace survey control group, and the open-ended verbatim responses of
survey respondents, directly confirm that the Wallace control improperly
retained the overall appearance and elements of the 3D Marks. USPA,
800 F. Supp. 2d at 534 (“The high levels of confusion elicited by Dr.
Helfgott’s controls [28.5% for Horse Head, 32% for Beverly Hills Polo

Club] throw the study’s use into further doubt.”) (citing Jacoby, 92
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Trademark Rep. at 931-32 (“[I]n the best of all possible worlds, it would
not be desirable for a control to yield confusion estimates that exceeded
10%. If it did, the control itself would begin to reach an actionable level
of confusion and its utility as a control thereby compromised.”). The
Wallace control groups showed far higher confusion rates than the
rejected surveys in USPA; indeed, the Wallace control clocked an
extraordinarily high confusion rate of 79.5%, Appx80176, compromising
the use of the controls to deduce overall net confusion levels. The high
control group confusion rates rivaled test group levels for the Gator,
79.5% (white Gator) and 75.5% (flamingo print Gator), Appx80175-
80176, evidencing that the Commission erred in relying on the Wallace
survey. See Royal Crown, 892 F.3d at 1370-71 (reversing agency decision
relying on flawed survey findings as unsupported by substantial
evidence); USPA, 800 F. Supp. 2d at 534; Jacoby, 92 Trademark Rep. at
931-32.

The open-ended verbatim responses reported by control survey
respondents support this conclusion. After viewing the Wallace control
stimulus, survey respondents were asked to answer two open-ended

questions: “Who do you believe makes or puts out this product?” and then,
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“Why do you say that?” Appx35648-35651. Participants repeatedly
identified the Wallace control as a Crocs shoe based on its close
resemblance to the 3D Mark design. Tracking Commissioner Kearns’s
criticism, the verbatims expressly called out elements of the 3D Mark
design. Appx97179 (Row 408 (“The holes in the shoes”)), Appx97187 (Row
419 (“the holes”)), Appx97367 (Row 596 (“it has little holes like Crocs”)));
Appx97728 (Row 378 (“... holes on the top look just like the croc shoes i
have worn”)). These responses make clear two facts. First, that the
distinctive aspect of the design artificially driving up recognition of the
Wallace control was not the heel or the fact that it was a clog, as the
Commission speculated, but instead the holes across the front of the shoe.
Second, the responses make clear that the pattern of holes that Mr.
Wallace used on the horizontal portion of the upper was not sufficiently
dissimilar from the iconic hole pattern found in the 3D Mark design, even
to people who owned Crocs shoes.

Consistent with this, several survey respondents who were counted
as identifying the control as “Crocs” explained that they knew, based on
their familiarity with Crocs footwear, that the control shoe was not

actually a Crocs shoe, but that it was close enough to the iconic look of a
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Crocs shoe, such that they identified it as “Crocs” regardless. For
instance, one respondent explained that the control shoe looked like
Crocs, but recognized that “the holes [were] different.” Appx97304 (Row
536). Another respondent explained that Crocs was their “all-time
favorite shoe,” and they were even wearing Crocs while completing the
survey, but they identified the control shoe as a “Crocs” shoe because it
appeared that the “design [was] taken from Crocs.” Appx97736 (Row
388); see also Appx97696 (Row 346 (“they look like crocs but could be a
knock off”)), Appx97616 (Row 248 (“it’s a popular brand that 1 have
purchased myself. there are knockoffs that are similar though, so it might
be one of them.”)); Appx97187 (Row 411 (identifying “Croc clone”)). As a
control cannot itself be infringing, the survey verbatims — wherein
respondents believed that the control stimulus was a knock-off — proves
that the control stimulus was too similar to the 3D Marks. USPA, 800 F.
Supp. 2d at 534; Jacoby, 92 Trademark Rep. at 931-32.

The verbatims also show that survey respondents recognized a
strong similarity between the control stimulus and the “distinctive,”
“iconic,” and “signature” style of Crocs footwear. Appx97640 (Row 282

(“Because they have a distinctive shoe style that I associate with their
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company.”)), Appx97616 (Row 255 (“They have a very distinguishable
design.”)); Appx97241 (Row 472 (“looks like crocs signature style”)),
Appx97295 (Row 532 (“Because that is their iconic shoe.”)), Appx 97187
(Row 418 (“It’s their distinct style”)); see also Appx97295 (Row 528
(“That’s the look associated with Crocs”)). Such responses could only have
been elicited by a control with a strikingly similar overall appearance to
the 3D Marks, particularly because the 3D Marks are the most visually
striking features of the Classic Clog’s design.

Evaluating this evidence, individually or collectively, leads to the
conclusion that the Wallace control was too similar to the 3D Marks,
which means that it was not a control at all. Appx76 (“[T]he Wallace
survey is flawed because the elements of the test and control sho[e] that
are related to the 3D Marks are too similar to one another.”) (emphasis
in original). The predictable effect of this “control” was to artificially
inflate recognition of the control by having parts of the 3D Marks in the
control, thereby artificially depressing the “net” difference between the
Wallace control and the Gator. Predictably, the effect of Orly’s Wallace
survey was to eliminate net confusion. The Commaission erred by giving

substantial weight to the unreliable Wallace survey.
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Indeed, the Commission seemed to recognize that it was standing
on less than solid ground with the Wallace control when it found that
“[a]t a minimum, the Commission finds that neither the Pittaoulis survey
nor the Wallace survey provides reliable, affirmative evidence of a
likelthood of confusion for the Accused Products.” But this
acknowledgement cannot save the Commission’s determination. If the
Wallace survey is neutral, then Factors 7, 8, and 12 must also be, at a
minimum, neutral since the Wallace survey was the only evidence Orly
put forward. And, adjusting Factors 7, 8, and 12 to neutral means that
the determination of noninfringement with respect to the Gator must be
reversed in light of Factors 1, 2 and 3.

b. The Pittaoulis Survey

The Commission found that the Pittaoulis survey was entitled to no
weight due to “numerous problems” in the control, 1.e., the use of a non-
clog silhouette that did not have a heel strap. Appx34. This finding is not
supported by substantial evidence.

That the Pittaoulis survey used a control that eliminated the
silhouette of the 3D Marks (i.e., the criticized ‘non-clog’ silhouette) is a

strength, not a flaw. Appx34-39. Pittaoulis’s choice not to copy the u-
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shaped profile and upturned toe of the front of the 3D Marks meant that
survey participants would not be confused into thinking that the source
of her control was Crocs, unlike the Wallace control.

Furthermore, Dr. Pittaoulis’s overall net levels of 21.4% and 13.6%
were significant. Appx67302-67303; Appx35785; see also, e.g., First Nat’l
Bank in Sioux Falls v. First Nat’l Bank S.D., 679 F.3d 763, 771 (8th Cir.
2012) (affirming likelihood of confusion finding where “percentage of
consumers likely to be confused was thirteen percent”; further noting
that “eleven percent confusion is not an insignificant percentage”)
(citation omitted); Combe Inc. v. Dr. August Wolff GmbH & Co. KG
Arzneimittel, 382 F. Supp. 3d 429, 464-65 (E.D. Va. 2019), affd, 851 F.
App’x 357, 2021 WL 2021 WL 1384750 (4th Cir. 2021) (Eveready-type
survey showing 37% confusion rate minus 18% “robust” level control rate
for net confusion of 19% was “reliable and [] powerful evidence of actual
confusion”); Borghese Trademarks Inc. v. Borghese, No. 10 CIV. 5552 JPO
AJP, 2013 WL 143807, at *11 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 14, 2013) (finding 15%
probative); Grotrian, Helfferich, Schulz, Th. Steinweg Nachf. v. Steinway
& Sons, 365 F. Supp. 707, 716 (S.D.N.Y. 1973), affd as modified, 523 F.2d

1331 (2d Cir. 1975) (finding infringement based on 8.5% and 7.7% net
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confusion rates); see also Restatement (Third) of Unfair Competition § 20
cmt. g (1995). Such net confusion levels are more than sufficient to find
that the Gator’s overwhelming similarity to the 3D Marks was a source
of consumer confusion.

The Pittaoulis survey was more, not less, reliable than the Wallace
survey. No substantial evidence supports the Commission’s complete
discounting of the Pittaoulis survey and wholesale crediting of the
Wallace survey.

c. The Commission Erroneously Discounted
High Gross Confusion Levels

Aside from crediting the Wallace control survey, the Commaission
also erred in entirely discounting all of the confusion surveys of the Gator
itself, by both sides’ experts, which showed that 70% to 80% of surveyed
consumers were confused as to its source. Appx41-42. The Commission
reasoned that it could not attribute any of this substantial confusion to
the 3D Marks because, when combined with the flawed Wallace control
survey, the survey evidence as a whole did not definitively rule out
supposed alternative sources of the measured recognition. Id. But, as a
matter of common sense, it 1s not credible that 7 out of 10 consumers were

confused into believing that Crocs was the source of the Gator for some
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reason other than the wholesale copying of the distinctive 3D Marks in
the Gator. To support this illogical determination, the Commission
engaged in wholesale speculation that the factors causing confusion as to
the source of the Gator were not the copied 3D Marks but rather
purportedly generic elements of the shoes, like the strap or the idea of a
clog. The Commission identified these latter elements as generic, based
on the trademark examiner’s comments during prosecution, but
nevertheless speculated that they were driving consumers to confuse
Crocs as the source of the Gator, even though generic elements are
definitionally incapable of creating a brand association for consumers.
Compare Appx16 (Commission determining that the “3D Marks ‘do not

)

cover the entirety of the shoe or its overall look,” because the “overall
look of a clog is a common or generic design element that is not entitled
to trademark protection”) with Appx41-42 (finding that “the clog itself”
or “other, non-trademarked influences or design elements, such as the
overall look of the Classic Clog” could be the source of confusion).

The Commission’s determination does not pass muster. “[E]lements

of the shoe that are generic, such as the overall clog shape, do not — and,

by definition, cannot — make the shoe distinctive or famous.” Appx56
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3D Marks have secondary meaning, Hollander “isolated” the effect of the
3D Mark design from its commercial embodiment by showing survey
participants picture cutouts of the 3D Mark registration drawings.
Appx73960-73961; Appx73967; Appx73969 (stating that Mr. Hollander
removed “the unclaimed elements” from his test stimuli). The picture
cutouts showed survey respondents nothing but the 3D Mark elements

(taken from the marks’ registrations):

875 Test Stimuli

Appx73816.

The Hollander test survey results found that over 50% of consumers
associate the design of the 3D Marks, and only the 3D Marks with no
other part of the shoe visible, with a single source, and that over 40%

of consumers were able to identify that source as Crocs, unaided.
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Appx73962-73963. This evidence: (1) proves that consumers do, in fact,
view the 3D Marks as distinctive and source-identifying; (2) makes it
exceedingly unlikely that survey respondents identified Crocs as the
source of the Gator based on generic elements of the shoe; and (3)
confirms that respondents associated the Wallace control with Crocs
because of the similarity to the 3D Marks, not some other part of the shoe.
Indeed, the juxtaposition of the Hollander cutouts with the control show
how the control copied the 3D Marks’ silhouette from the vamp area to

the toe box.

Appx73816; Appx80154
The Commission’s findings about the survey evidence lack

substantial evidence, and its conclusions were erroneous.
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d. Direct Evidence of Actual Confusion

The Commission erred in determining that the direct evidence of
actual confusion related to the Gator was neutral. Social media postings
demonstrated that consumers exhibited actual confusion that the Gators
were Classic Clogs. Appx66357-66358 (Facebook users: posting a picture
of Gators and stating that they had “[d]ecorated some hobby lobby crocs”;
commenting that “[t]he decoration is cute but crocs are just plain ugly”);
Appx66355-66356 (Facebook user posting that she “bought very cheap
white crocs at hobby lobby ... Anyone else love crocs??”). The Commission
discounted this confusion because 1t decided, without evidence, that the
failure to capitalize the word Crocs meant that the posters were “using
the term generically.” Appx33. This conclusion 1s unsupported and
1llogical. First, social media postings are not known for rigorously formal
writing (indeed, “hobby lobby” also was not capitalized). Second, the
finding reflects a peculiar hostility — it is hard to imagine such a finding
being cavalierly made about a brand like coke or nike. And third, as
Commissioner Kearns noted, the “suggestion that these consumers were
referring to ‘crocs’ as a category of shoe” is inconsistent with a finding

that the CROCS Word Mark is not generic (and was, indeed,
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acknowledged by the Commission as famous). Appx72. The Commaission
erred in discounting this evidence of actual confusion.

The Commission also discounted the confusion expressed by Orly’s
own former COO who identified an image of a Gator as a Crocs shoe
during his deposition. Appx33, Appx67109-67113; Appx29684-29688 at
46:25-47:20; 48:5-49:1; 50:10-20. According to the Commission, this
evidence was not probative because it did not reflect “actual consumer
confusion in a more real-life setting,” the testimony did not “take into
account differences in prices, tags, material,” and the witness later
“corrected himself after he had a chance to view the images more closely.”
Appx33. None of these post hac explanations, however, detracts from the
impact of a former Orly executive actually confusing the Gator for a
Classic Clog, regardless of how long that confusion lasted. Furthermore,
none of these explanations change that the ex-COQO’s confusion was
unrebutted evidence of post-sale confusion, particularly where given “in
a deliberative setting in which all attention is focused on that very issue.”
Appx73, n.13 (dissent). Thus, even if the direct evidence were to be given
“relatively little weight” (Appx74), it indisputably showed actual

confusion, and the Commission erred in determining that it was neutral.
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3. The Commission Erred as to Factor 4

The Commission improperly determined that the conditions of sale
(Factor 4) weigh against a likelihood of confusion based on the price
difference between the products, the supposed but unsubstantiated
specialized knowledge of discount shoppers, and the products’ labeling.
Appx31; Appx245-249.

Although a significant price differential can weigh against the
likelihood of confusion, “significant” typically involves differences in price
of at least ten-fold. See, e.g., Malletier v. Burlington Coat Factory
Warehouse Corp., No. 04 CV 2644(RMB), 2006 WL 1424381, at *6
(S.D.N.Y. May 23, 2006) (holding that Factor 4 weighed against a
likelihood of confusion when the price for the accused hand bags was
$29.98, as compared to a prices of between $360 and $3,950 for
embodying hand bags); Estee Lauder Inc. v. The Gap, Inc., 108 F.3d 1503,
1511-12 (2d Cir. 1997) (price difference of 10-20 times more per ounce for
original products, sold in different stores, as compared to accused
products weighed against a likelihood of confusion).

Here, Crocs sells its Classic Clogs for between $18-$45 (depending

on sales channel), while the Gator has a suggested retail price of $38 and
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sell on average for $10. Appx80210; Appx31846. Such products are
Inexpensive apparel items, the consumers of which do not exhibit a high
degree of care in purchasing. See adidas-America, Inc. v. Payless
Shoesource, Inc., 546 F. Supp. 2d 1029, 1060 (D. Or. 2008) (internal
quotations omitted) (“[Plurchasers of relatively inexpensive athletic and
sportswear are not likely to exercise a great deal of care in distinguishing
between trademarks when purchasing the goods.”); see also Gucci Am.,
Inc. v. Action Activewear, Inc., 759 F. Supp. 1060, 1066 (S.D.N.Y. 1991)
(“ITThe Court has no reason to conclude that the buyers of casual
sportswear represent a particularly sophisticated group of customers.”).
The small difference in price here thus actually weighs in favor of a
likelihood of confusion and not against.

Even if not, courts have held that a relatively small price
differential between inexpensive goods is insufficient to establish that
consumers are unlikely to be confused. See, e.g., USPA, 800 F. Supp. 2d
at 530-31 (finding a price differential of $25 vs. $50-$70 insufficient to
establish that Factor 4 weighed against a likelihood of confusion) (citing

Malletier, 2006 WL 1424381, at *6).
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Most significantly, price differential and product labeling have no
relevance to post-sale confusion where consumers see neither prices nor
labels. Appx63 (dissent); see, e.g., Payless Shoesource, Inc. v. Reebok Int’l,
Ltd., 998 F.2d 985, 989 (Fed. Cir. 1993) (holding that district court
abused discretion in failing to consider post-sale confusion); see also
McCarthy §23:76. The Court should reverse the Commission’s finding
that Factor 4 weighs against a likelihood of confusion. Given the separate
actionability of post-sale confusion, Factor 4 weighs in, at the very least,
neutral.

4. The Commission Erred as to Factor 5

The Commission committed two errors with respect to its finding
that Factor 5, the fame of the prior mark, is neutral.

a. The Commission Employed the Wrong Legal
Framework to Analyze Fame

First, the Commission committed legal error by evaluating Crocs’s
evidence of the 3D Marks’ fame “separate and apart from the Classic
Clog.” Appx32-33 (adopting finding that evidence of fame was weak)
(citing Appx249-251, Appx268, Appx274). Echoing the Commission’s
errors with respect to the Wallace control, the Commission concluded

that “Crocs’s evidence of extensive recognition or acclaim for the 3D

- 56 -



Case: 24-1300 Document: 19 Page: 73  Filed: 06/10/2024

Marks is weak, as is its showing that the 3D Marks are famous” because
“the clog itself” is “a common design element that is not entitled to
trademark protection.” Appx32.

To the contrary, the “fame of a mark may be measured” by, among
other things, “the volume of sales and advertising expenditures of the

goods traveling under the mark, and by the length of time those

indicia of commercial awareness have been evident.” Coach Servs., 668
F.3d at 1367 (quoting Bose Corp. v. QSC Audio Prod., Inc., 293 F.3d 1367,
1371 (Fed. Cir. 2002)). Indeed, the fame of a mark is “usually proved” by
advertising of goods bearing the mark, sales volume, and length of use,
but can also be shown by critical acclaim, nationwide brand awareness,
or other types of public exposure of the goods bearing the mark. Miguel
Torres, S.A. v. Bodegas Muga, S.A., 176 Fed. App’x 124, 128 (Fed. Cir.
2006); Q@SC Audio, 293 F.3d at 1371-74; see also UMG Recordings Inc. v.
Mattel Inc., 100 U.S.P.Q.2d 1868, 2011 WL 5014005, at *23 (TTAB 2011)
(finding that evidence of public exposure was so strong that the Board
could infer “significant actual recognition among the general public”).

In @SC Audio, for example, the Federal Circuit held that a product

word mark was famous for purposes of likelithood of confusion where a
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significant volume of sales and advertising expenses existed for the
commercial product bearing the mark, the mark had been in use for over
17 years and the product bearing the mark had received a large amount
of nationwide critical attention, particularly for its uniqueness. 293 F.3d
at 1371-74.

Using this analytical framework, the Commission erred by not
considering the success of the Classic Clog as evidence that the 3D Marks
are famous. The 3D Marks “are not only essential components of, and
inextricably linked to, the ‘overall look’ and the ‘design’ of the famous
Classic Clog,” which is enough to find the marks famous, but they “are
also precisely what make the Classic Clog distinctive - as the trademark
examiner concluded.” Appx65 (dissent). Thus, the abundant advertising
evidence depicting the Classic Clog was more than sufficient to prove the
fame of the 3D Marks. Appx63-71; see also Sec. 11.4.b.

In finding that the fame of the Classic Crocs is attributable to
generic features of a clog rather than the distinctive 3D Marks, the ID
(as adopted by the Commission) relied on Certain Footwear Products, Inv.
No. 337-TA-936, 2015 WL 13808550 (Nov. 17, 2015) (“Footwear

Products”) and Certain Motorized Vehicles, Inv. No. 337-TA-1132, 2019
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at 1ssue that covered the products. Footwear Products, 2015 WL
13808550, at *55-56; Motorized Vehicles, 2019 WL 7288994, at *34.

This case is distinct. Specifically, under 15 U.S.C. § 1125(c)(4), a
complainant bringing a dilution claim related to registered and
unregistered marks has the burden of proving fame of the unregistered
trade dress “separate and apart from any fame of such registered marks.”
Thus, the ALJ in Motorized Vehicles and Footwear Products required
proof of recognition of the marks themselves as opposed to the products
generally because both cases involved dilution claims of registered and
unregistered marks. Footwear Products, 2015 WL 13808550, at *5, *55-
56; Motorized Vehicles, 2019 WL 7288994, at *34. In each case, the ALJ
determined that complainant failed to satisfy its burden because it did
not conduct a survey that distinguished the recognition of the registered
marks from that of the unregistered marks, as required by § 1125(c)(4).
See id. The instant case, however, only involves registered marks, not a
separately claimed unregistered trade dress. As a result, the holdings in
Motorized Vehicles and Footwear Products, even when properly limited
to the “recognition of the mark” factor for fame, are inapplicable. And,

the Commission knows better, because it applied the correct analysis
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when it analyzed fame with respect to the Crocs (registered) word mark
by relying on the sales of Crocs’s underlying shoes. Appx47. The
Commission should have used the same approach when looking at Crocs’s
(registered) 3D Marks.

b. The Commission Erred in Finding that the
3D Marks are Not Famous

Second, the Commission’s finding that the 3D Marks are not
famous is unsupported by any evidence that: something other than the
3D Mark drives high levels of recognition of the Classic Clog; and high
levels of recognition that could hypothetically be associated with some
other feature would disprove that high levels of recognition could also be
based on the 3D Marks. The decision is also entirely inconsistent with
the Commaission’s separate finding that a clog-shaped silhouette (one of
the Commission’s hypothetical other features driving fame) was a generic
feature common across shoe brands. Appx32-33.

The actual evidence only shows that the 3D Marks, and not generic
attributes of a clog shoe, are what have made the Classic Clog famous.
For much of the past twenty years, Crocs has made exclusive use of the
3D Mark design, one of the most widely recognized product designs for

footwear in the world. Appx68294-68298; Appx69653-69657; Appx31717-
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In addition, Crocs has sold hundreds of millions of pairs of its
Classic Clog shoes—more than one pair for every U.S. resident—
including 90 million pairs, earning $2 billion in revenue, from 2018 to

2021 alone, which are then seen being worn in public.

Business

Crocs are everywhere right now — here's why Why Are Crocs So Popular? Shoe Company Sees Surge
They're quickly becoming one of the hottest shoes of the season. In Sales In 2021

o oo

rrrrrrrr ™v

INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS TIMES

S hoe brand Croes Inc. (CROX) has seen a huge boost in popularity
in 2021

By Emma Stessman

Appx66467-66475; Appx66374-66382; Appx31722; Appx31778-31779;
Appx35291, Appx35292; Appx24790; Appx66415-66419; Appx63127-
63135; Appx63141-63146. The Commission did not find that the Classic
Clog sales and revenue were insignificant, but discounted them as
evidence of fame on the basis that such sales were not solely due to the
mark, an impossible (and incorrect) standard. Compare Appx32-33,
Appx46-47 and Appx295 with Recot, Inc. v. Becton, 214 F.3d 1322, 1326
(Fed. Cir. 2000) (analyzing fame of FRITO-LAY mark using sales and
advertising of products bearing the mark); see also QSC Audio, 293 F.3d

at 1371 (“[O]ur cases teach that the fame of a mark may be measured
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Year in 2021. Appx63127-63135; Appx68913. The Classic Clog is
consistently recognized as one of the most sought after pieces of footwear
in the world. Appx66415-66419 (adult’s and children’s Classic Clog
ranked #3 and #10 on Amazon’s best seller’'s list respectively);
Appx49382. Here again, the Commission discounted this evidence
because it purportedly “do[es] not lead to a strong showing of fame for the
3D Marks, as opposed to the overall, generic clog.” Appx33.

The only conclusion to be drawn from the evidence is that the 3D
Marks are among the most famous, if not the most famous, product
design made for footwear. Consequently, the Court should reverse.

5. The Commission Erred as to Factor 13

The Commission erred in finding that Orly lacked an intent to
confuse consumers and in weighing Factor 13 against a likelihood of
confusion. Appx43; Appx264-265.

Although the Lanham Act does not require proof of intent to
deceive, it “can constitute strong evidence of confusion” when present.
Daddy’s Junky Music Stores, 109 F.3d at 287. The opposite, however, is
not true. A lack of intent is “largely irrelevant in determining if

consumers likely will be confused as to source.” Id. (quotations and
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citations omitted); J & J Snack Foods Corp. v. McDonald’s Corp., 932
F.2d 1460, 1462 (Fed. Cir. 1991) (“Whether there is evidence of intent to
trade on the goodwill of another is a factor to be considered, but the
absence of such evidence does not avoid a ruling of likelihood of
confusion.”) (citation omitted). Thus, the Commission erred in finding
that Factor 13 weighed against a likelihood of confusion. Id.; Appx78-79.
At worst, the Commaission should have found that Factor 13 was neutral.

In fact, the Commission’s underlying determination that Orly did
not have an intent to deceive was also error. “[A]s the elements of
similarity between the marks and their trade dress, format and
background details begin to mount up, all heads turn to defendant to hear
some explanation” for why their products are identical to the asserted
marks.” McCarthy §23:123. “When no credible explanation is
forthcoming, the common sense reaction is that defendant intentionally
meant to simulate plaintiff's marks and ‘image’ in the marketplace” to
“make customers think that its products were those of plaintiff or
somehow sponsored by or connected with plaintiff.” Id.

Here, it 1s undisputed that the Gator is nearly identical to the

Classic Clog. Moreover, not only did Orly fail to put forth any explanation
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as to why its shoes are virtually indistinguishable from Crocs’s, the
evidence shows Orly intended to confuse consumers through clear efforts
to copy the Classic Clog. The “GATOR” tradename is a clear reference to
Crocs, and Orly routinely referred to its products internally and to its
customers as “crocs.” Appx30268 (Orly sending instructions to its
manufacturer using Crocs as a template); Appx30287-30288, Appx30290
(same); Appx30370-30374 (Orly’s purchase orders to its supplier showing
the Classic Clog); Appx29769-29771 at 131:1-133:24 (admitting that Orly
superimposed an Orly logo over a Classic Clog on its purchase orders as
a “reference guide to what [the factory is] producing”). Hobby Lobby even
affixed a tag to the Gators it sold in its stores with the name “SPRING

SHOPWEARABLE ART/FOOTWEAR-CROC SLIDES”:

SPRING SHOP-WEARABLE ART/FOOTWEAR-CROC SLIDES
HLS172085

©2019 The Spring Shop
Oklahoma City, OK 73179

www.hobbylobby.com
Made in China

Appx94346; Appx96664; Appx24115.
Hobby Lobby and Orly also referred to the Gators as Crocs in their

correspondence, proving a common intent to have consumers substitute
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1. The Commission Erred as to Factor 1 and its
Weighing of Factors 1-3

The Commission erred in finding that Factor 1 only weakly favored
a likelihood of confusion because of purportedly “noticeable differences
from the 3D Marks,” 1.e., “a wide, raised tread on the side and underside
of the sole (including the heel) that is visible from the side view” and “a
set of larger hexagonal holes . . . on the upper, which are arranged in a
somewhat more spread-out pattern.” Appx30-31. The raised tread on the
side and underside of the sole is not part of the 3D Marks, and thus
irrelevant to the substantial similarity analysis. Appx67391; Appx68500.
The Commission further disregarded that, directly above the raised tread
and underside, in the exact same location as the 3D Mark design, the
AGC features a U-shaped line and textured strip that look identical to
the corresponding elements of the 3D Marks. Appx81-84 (dissent
identifying these flaws).

As for the other differences between the 3D Marks and AGCs, they
do not create a substantially different overall commercial impression. For
example, the (slightly) hexagonal holes on the upper have a very similar
shape to the circular holes of the 3D Marks and create a nearly

indistinguishable pattern in the upper:
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Crocs Classic Clog Garden Clog
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Crocs Classic Clog Garden Clog

Appx95991; Appx96691; Appx96681.

The same is true of the slight difference in texturing, hole shape in
the vertical portion of the upper and decorative band on the strap.
Overall, the AGC is extremely similar in overall commercial appearance
to the 3D Marks. Therefore, Factor 1 should weigh heavily in favor of a
likelihood of confusion regarding this shoe. Comparing the overall
impression of the AGC to the 3D Marks, the Commission erred in

assigning lesser weight to Factor 1. Appx81-84, Appx269-273.
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3. The Commission Erred as to Factor 13

The Commission’s finding that Factor 13 weighs against a finding
of likelihood of confusion, Appx 27, Appx43; Appx275-276, is not
supported by substantial evidence. Amoji only decided to make the AGC
after seeing how popular the Classic Clog was on Amazon. Appx31393-
31396. Moreover, Amoji’s website boasts that it is a lower priced
alternative to Crocs. Id. Most probative of Amoji’s intent to confuse
consumers is its intentional selection of Crocs brand keywords (for which
1t spent nearly SEIEQERENAL), resulting in consumers being shown Amoji
shoes for purchase or provided a link to Amoji’s website when customers
searched for words and phrases related to Crocs. Appx31732; Appx31432,
Appx31435-31437; see, e.g., Zerorez Franchising Sys., Inc. v. Distinctive
Cleaning, Inc., 103 F. Supp. 3d 1032, 1043 (D. Minn. 2015) (holding that
purchasing the senior user’s keywords to sell similar products evidenced

Intent).
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C. The Commission Erred in Determining that the
Redesign Does Not Infringe Crocs’s 3D Marks

1. The Commission Erred with respect to Factors 2,
3,4,5,7, 8, and 12 for the Redesign as the Gator

The Commission erred in its evaluation of Factors 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 8,
and 12 with respect to the Redesign for the same reasons as explained
above with respect to the Gator.

2. The Commission Erred as to Factor 1

“When marks would appear on virtually identical goods or services,
the degree of similarity necessary to support a conclusion of likely
confusion declines.” Century 21 Real Estate Corp. v. Century Life of Am.,
970 F.2d 874, 877 (Fed. Cir. 1992) (citations omitted). Specifically, the
1denticality of goods or services “accentuates the likelihood of consumer
confusion about the sources of services marketed under similar marks.”
Id. The failure to give proper weight to this factor constitutes reversible
error. Id.

The Commission improperly found that the Redesign does not have
a substantially similar overall commercial impression to the 3D Marks
because Orly purportedly redesigned its shoes “to remove all elements of

the 3D Marks.” Appx239-244; Appx30-31. To the contrary, all of the
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elements of the 3D Marks are present on the Redesign except for the
trapezoidal openings on the vertical portion of the upper.

First, the Redesign has a strip along the vertical portion of the
upper, as called out in the image on the right below. The strip extends
around the toe of the shoe separating the horizontal and vertical portions

of upper and is identical to the strip in the 3D Marks:

Appx96693. Moreover, this strip has texturing that is immediately

recognizable and distinct from the smooth material just underneath:

| Textured Strip

Smooth Material

Id.
Second, the Redesign also has a strip extending along the heel of

the shoe with texturing, as in the 3D Marks (outlined below on the right):

-76 -



Case: 24-1300 Document: 19 Page: 93 Filed: 06/10/2024

Appx96693. As with the toe, the texturing of this strip is distinct from

the smooth material just above:

/ Smooth Material

Textured Strip

Id. And, even if the Redesign did not have texturing, that would be
irrelevant because the 328 Mark does not include heel texturing.

Appx68294-68298.

Third, Orly’s photographs of the Redesign demonstrate that it has

a decorative band on the strap:
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Appx96693. Furthermore, even if the Redesign had no decorative band
on the strap, it would be irrelevant to the 328 Mark, which does not
include this element. Appx68294-68298.

The Redesign has 16 holes in the horizontal portion of the upper
that differ in shape from the 13 round holes shown in the 3D Marks, but
this element is modified, not missing. As shown below, the holes still

cover the same portion of the horizontal surface as in the 3D Marks:

Appx96693; Appx69654. Indeed, in the context of a narrower design

patent, a pattern of holes of this exact type were found, as a matter of
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Classic Clog. The Commission cited no evidence in support of its contrary
conclusion that the fame garnered by the Classic Clog is not attributable
to the 3D Marks, but instead a generic clog shape.

Third, indirect evidence can sufficiently support a finding of fame
for dilution purposes. See Recot, 214 F.3d at 1326; QSC Audio, 293 F.3d
at 1371; see also Moseley v. V Secret Catalogue, Inc., 537 U.S. 418, 434
(2003) (even prior to amendment, “actual dilution [could] reliably be
proved through circumstantial evidence”). Accordingly, the Commaission’s
holding is incompatible with the plain language of the dilution statute
expressly identifying categories of indirect evidence for courts to
examine. See 15 U.S.C. § 1125(c)(2)(A); VIP Prods., LLC v. Jack Daniel's
Props., Inc., No. CV-14-2057-PHX-SMM, 2016 WL 5408313, at *13 (D.
Ariz. Sept. 27, 2016) (under the statutory factors, evidence of “sales,
advertising, and public exposure of [commercial product containing]
trade dress provide substantial indirect evidence of fame”). The
Commission disregarded the weight of authority by requiring proof
directed exclusively to the 3D Marks divorced from the underlying shoe.

Appx32-33, Appx46-47; Appx249-251, Appx293-299.
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Fourth, even if the Commaission was right, Crocs presented direct
evidence of fame in the form of survey evidence, and the Commission
erred in assigning that evidence no weight. See Sec. II.A.4.b, supra. In
short, the same evidence that showed fame for confusion purposes also
shows fame for dilution purposes because it establishes that the 3D
Marks are not just well-known with a niche group, but they are widely
recognized by the general consuming public. 15 U.S.C. § 1125(c)(2)(A).
IV. Crocs’s Appeal is Timely

Crocs’s appeal is timely. First, as the Supreme Court recently held
in Harrow v. Dept. of Defense, notice of appeal deadlines such as the
deadline described in 19 U.S.C. 1337(j) are not jurisdictional. 601 U.S.
_,2024 WL 2193874, at *2 (2024). Thus, as an initial matter, Harrow
undermines the premise of the Commission’s argument that the Court
“lacks jurisdiction to hear” Crocs’s appeal because Crocs’s notice of appeal
was purportedly untimely. See Dkt. No. 11 (citing, inter alia, Allied Corp.
v. USITC, 782 F.2d 982 (Fed. Cir. 1986); Broadcom Corp. v. ITC, 542 F.3d
894 (Fed. Cir. 2008); Excel Dryer v. ITC, No. 18-1622, Order, ECF 14 (Fed.
Cir. May 22, 2018) (unpublished)). Second, this Court, more than four

decades ago, in Young Engineers, Inc. v. ITC, held that a final
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determination, not merely portions thereof, constitutes a singular
Commission “determination.” 721 F.2d 1305, 1311 (Fed. Cir. 1983); see
also Dkt. No. 13. The Commission issued its one and only final
determination in the Investigation below on September 14, 2023. That
final determination granted a limited exclusion order (“‘LEO”) and cease-
and-desist orders (“CDOs”) against certain respondents but failed to
grant a general exclusion order (“GEQO”). This final determination
triggered a 60-day Presidential review period, rendering the
determination non-final under the plain language of the statutes until
November 14, 2023, the day after the Presidential review period ended.
See 19 U.S.C. §1337(G)(4). Crocs timely filed its notice of appeal on
December 22, 2023.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Crocs respectfully requests that the

Court reverse.
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The Commission’s notice of investigation named numerous respondents, including:
Hobby Lobby of Oklahoma City, Oklahoma; Amoji of Quanzhou, Fujian Province, China;
Skechers USA, Inc. of Manhattan Beach, California (“Skechers”); SG Footwear Meser Grp. Inc.
a/k/a S. Goldberg & Co. of Hackensack, New Jersey (“SG Footwear”); Cape Robbin Inc. of
Pomona, California (“Cape Robbin”); Dr. Leonard’s Healthcare Corp. d/b/a Carol Wright of
Edison, New Jersey (“Dr. Leonard’s”); Fullbeauty Brands Inc. d/b/a Kingsize of New York, New
York (“Fullbeauty”); Legend Footwear, Inc. d/b/a/ Wild Diva of City of Industry, California
(“Wild Diva”); Fujian Huayuan Well Import and Export Trade Co., Ltd. of Fuzhou, Fujian
Province, China (“Fujian”); Yoki Fashion International LLC of New York, New York (“Yoki”);
Bijora, Inc. d/b/a Akira of Chicago, Illinois (“Akira”); Hawkins Footwear, Sports, Military &
Dixie Store of Brunswick, Georgia (“Hawkins”); Shoe-Nami Inc. of Gretna, Louisiana (“Shoe-
Nami”); PW Shoes, Inc. a’k/a P&W of Maspeth, New York (“PW”); 718Closeouts of Brooklyn,
New York (“718Closeouts”); Crocsky of Austin, Texas (“Crocsky”); Hobibear Shoes and
Clothing Ltd. of Brighton, Colorado (“Hobibear”); Ink Tee of Los Angeles, California (“Ink
Tee”); Maxhouse Rise Ltd. of Hong Kong, China (“Maxhouse”); La Modish of West Covina,
California; Loeffler Randall Inc. of New York, New York (“Loeffler Randall”); Star Bay of
Hackensack, New Jersey; and Royal Deluxe Accessories, LLC of New Providence, New Jersey
(“Royal Deluxe”). The Office of Unfair Import Investigations (“OUII”) was also named as a

party.

On November 17, 2021, the Commission amended the complaint and notice of
investigation to add certain new respondents, including Orly of New York, New York; Mould
Industria de Matrizes Ltda. d/b/a/ Boaonda of Brazil (“Boaonda”); Dongguan Eastar Footwear
Enterprises Co., Ltd. of Guangzhou City, China (“Eastar”); KGS Sourcing Ltd. of Hong Kong,
China (“KGS”); Fujian Wanjiaxin Industrial Developing, Inc. a/k/a Fujian Wanjiaxin Light
Industrial Developing, Inc. of Quanzhou City, China (“Wanjiaxin”); Anao of Jinjiang City,
China; Walmart Inc. of Bentonville, Arkansas (“Walmart”); and Huizhou of Huizhou City,
China, and to terminate the investigation with respect to Crocsky, Hobibear, and Ink Tee. Order
No. 30 (Oct. 21, 2021), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (Nov. 17,2021).

The Commission subsequently terminated the investigation with respect to various
respondents on the basis of settlement agreements or consent orders. See Order No. 12 (Aug. 11,
2021) (Skechers), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (Aug. 24, 2021); Order No. 16 (Aug. 26, 2021)
(SG Footwear) and Order No. 17 (Aug. 26, 2021) (Cape Robbin), unreviewed by Comm’n
Notice (Sept. 24, 2021); Order No. 20 (Sept. 1, 2021) (Dr. Leonard’s), unreviewed by Comm’n
Notice (Sept. 29, 2021); Order No. 22 (Sept. 9, 2021) (Fullbeauty) and Order No. 23 (Sept. 9,
2021) (Wild Diva), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (Oct. 7, 2021); Order No. 24 (Sept. 17, 2021)
(Fujian), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (Oct. 7, 2021); Order No. 25 (Sept. 22, 2021) (Yoki),
unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (Oct. 7, 2021); Order No. 26 (Sept. 28, 2021) (Akira),
unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (Oct. 27, 2021); Order No. 27 (Oct. 6, 2021) (Hawkins),
unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (Oct. 29, 2021); Order No. 32 (Nov. 1, 2021) (Shoe-Nami) and
Order No. 33 (Nov. 1, 2021) (PW), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (Nov. 29, 2021); Order No.
34 (Nov. 10, 2021) (718 Closeouts), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (Dec. 6, 2021); Order No.
39 (Jan. 11, 2022) (Eastar), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (Feb. 4, 2022); Order No. 46 (March

2
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3, 2022) (Maxhouse, Wanjiaxin), unreviewed by Comm'n Notice (March 18, 2022); Order No.
49 (March 15, 2022) (Boaonda), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (April 1, 2022); Order No. 54
(April 22, 2022) (Royal Deluxe), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (May 17, 2022); Order No. 56
(May 6, 2022) (Loeffler Randall), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (May 27, 2022); Order No. 81
(Sept. 28, 2022) (Walmart), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (Oct. 20, 2022). The Commission
also terminated the investigation with respect to KGS for good cause. Order No. 40 (Feb. 1,
2022), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (Feb. 22, 2022).

On June 10, 2022, the Commission found that respondents La Modish, Star Bay,
Huizhou, and Anao (“Defaulting Respondents™) were in default and waived their rights to
appear, to be served with documents, and to contest the allegations in this investigation, pursuant
to 19 CFR 210.16(b). Order No. 58 (May 20, 2022), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (June 10,
2022).

On September 13-16, 2022, the presiding administrative law judge (“ALJ”) held an
evidentiary hearing with Crocs, OUII, and the remaining respondents Orly, Hobby Lobby
(collectively, “the Orly Respondents”), and Amoji (all collectively, “Respondents”).

On January 9, 2023, the ALJ issued the subject final ID, finding no violation of section
337 because: (1) Crocs did not prove that Respondents infringe the Asserted Marks; (2) Crocs
did not prove that Respondents falsely designate the origin of their accused products or cause
unfair competition; (3) Crocs did not prove that Respondents dilute the Asserted Marks by
blurring or tarnishment; (4) the 3D Marks are invalid for lack of secondary meaning; and
(5) Crocs waived its infringement contentions against Defaulting Respondents. 1D at 71-72, 83-
86, 148-49. The ID also finds that Crocs has satisfied both the technical and economic prongs of
the domestic industry requirement. /d. at 130, 149. The ID further finds that Respondents failed
to prove that the 3D Marks are invalid as functional or that the Word Mark is invalid as generic.
Id. at 128-29, 149. The ID takes no position on Crocs’s alleged injury or Respondents’ fair use
defense. Id. at 129-30.

On January 13, 2023, the Commission issued a notice soliciting submissions from the
public on the public interest implications of any remedial orders the Commission may issue in
this case. 88 FR 3437 (Jan. 19, 2023). On February 9, 2023, non-party Joybees, LLC, a U.S.
seller of footwear, filed a statement opposing issuance of a general exclusion order, (“GEO”).
EDIS Doc. ID 790010 (Feb. 9, 2023). The Commission also received a letter dated June 14,
2023, from U.S. Representative Brittany Pettersen (CO-7), who represents the congressional
district in which Crocs in headquartered. EDIS Doc. ID 798554 (June 14, 2023).

On April 5, 2023, the Commission determined to review the ID’s findings that: (1) Crocs
waived its infringement contentions against the lined version of Orly’s Gators; (2) the 3D Marks
are not entitled to the presumption of validity and are invalid for lack of secondary meaning;

(3) Crocs waived its infringement contentions against Defaulting Respondents; (4) subject matter
jurisdiction; (5) likelihood of confusion; (6) false designation of origin; (7) dilution; and (8) the
technical and economic prongs of domestic industry. Comm’n Notice at 3-4 (Apr. 5, 2023); 88
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COMMISSION OPINION

I. INTRODUCTION

On April 5, 2023, the Commission determined to review in part the final initial
determination (“ID”) issued by the presiding administrative law judge (“ALJ”) on January 9,
2023. 88 Fed. Reg. 21712, 21713-14 (Apr. 11, 2023). On review, the Commission has
determined that there has been no violation of section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended,
19 U.S.C. § 1337 (“section 337”), by the participating respondents with respect to U.S.
Trademark Registration Nos. 5,149,328 (“the *328 Mark™), 5,273,875 (“the 875 Mark™) (both
collectively, the ”3D Marks”), and 3,836,415 (“the *415 Registration,” or “Word Mark™) (all
collectively, the “Asserted Marks”) because the complainant, Crocs, Inc., failed to prove
likelihood of confusion, infringement, false designation of origin, or dilution by either
tarnishment or dilution as to the participating respondents. The Commission takes no position as
to Orly’s alleged first sale, the presumption of validity, secondary meaning, fair use, injury, or
the technical or economic prongs of domestic industry. See at ID 92-126, 128-148.

The Commission has determined to issue a limited exclusion order (“LEO”) against the
respondents previously found in default and cease and desist orders (“CDO”) against certain of
the respondents found in default. The Commission finds that the public interest factors do not
preclude entry of such relief. The Commission has also determined to set a bond in the amount
of one hundred (100) percent of the entered value of infringing goods imported during the period
of Presidential review. See 19 U.S.C. § 1337(j).

This Opinion sets forth the Commission’s reasoning in support of its determination. !

! Commissioner Kearns joins Parts I, 11, III, IV, and V.A. of this Opinion but otherwise
respectfully dissents from the Commission’s decision and has filed a separate opinion explaining
his views.

1
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I1. BACKGROUND

A. Procedural History

The Commission instituted this investigation on July 9, 2021, based on a complaint, as
supplemented, filed by Crocs, Inc. of Broomfield, Colorado (“Crocs”). 86 Fed. Reg. 36303-304
(July 9, 2021). Crocs accused respondents of violating section 337(a)(1)(A) (19 U.S.C.

§ 1337(a)(1)(A)) by diluting its Asserted Marks and falsely designating the origin of their
accused footwear, the threat or effect of which is to destroy or substantially injure an industry in
the United States. /d. Crocs also accused respondents of violating section 337(a)(1)(C) of the
Tariff Act of 1930, as amended (19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(1)(C)), by importing into the United States,
selling for importation, or selling in the United States after importation certain casual footwear
and packaging thereof that infringe one or more of Crocs’s Asserted Marks. Id. Crocs’s
complaint seeks a general exclusion order (“GEO”) (or, in the alternative, an LEO) and CDOs
against respondents found in violation. /d.

Crocs’s original complaint and notice of investigation named numerous respondents,
including Hobby Lobby Stores, Inc. of Oklahoma City, Oklahoma (“Hobby Lobby”); Quanzhou
ZhengDe Network Corp. d/b/a Amoji of Quanzhou, Fujian Province, China (“Amoji”); La
Modish Boutique of West Covina, California (“La Modish”); and Star Bay Group Inc. of
Hackensack, New Jersey (“Star Bay”). Id. at 36304. The Office of Unfair Import Investigations
(“OUII”) also participated as a party. Id.

On November 17, 2021, the Commission amended the complaint to add new respondents,
including Orly Shoe Corp. of New York, New York (“Orly”); Huizhou Xinshunzu Shoes Co.,
Ltd. of Huizhou City, China (“Huizhou”); and Jinjiang Anao Footwear Co., Ltd. (“Anao”). See

86 Fed. Reg. 66337-38 (Nov. 22, 2021).

2
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On June 10, 2022, the Commission found La Modish, Star Bay, Huizhou, and Anao
(“Defaulting Respondents”) were in default and waived their rights to appear, to be served with
documents, and to contest the allegations in this investigation, per 19 C.F.R. §§ 210.16(b). Order
No. 58 (May 20, 2022), unreviewed by Comm’n notice (June 10, 2022).

The Commission terminated the other respondents due to settlement agreements and
withdrawal of the complaint, so that Orly, Hobby Lobby, and Amoji (collectively,
“Respondents”) remain as the only respondents actively participating in this investigation.

On September 13-16, 2022, the ALJ held an evidentiary hearing.

On January 9, 2023, the ALJ issued the subject ID finding no violation of section 337
because: (1) Crocs failed to prove that any of Respondents infringes the 3D Marks; (2) Crocs
failed to prove that Orly or Hobby Lobby infringes the Word Mark; (3) Crocs failed to prove that
any of Respondents falsely designated the source of their accused products or caused unfair
competition; (4) Crocs failed to prove that any of the Respondents diluted any of the Asserted
Marks by blurring or tarnishment; (5) the 3D Marks are invalid for lack of secondary meaning;
and (6) Crocs waived its infringement contentions against Defaulting Respondents. ID at 71-72,
83-86, 148-49. The ID also finds that Respondents failed to prove that the 3D Marks are invalid
as functional or the Word Mark is invalid as generic. /d. at 128-29. The ID takes no position on
Respondents’ “fair use” defense. Id. The ID finds that Crocs has satisfied both the technical and
economic prongs of the domestic industry requirement, but it takes no position on Crocs’s injury

or threat of injury. Id. at 130.

3
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On January 23, 2023, Crocs filed a petition for review of certain findings in the ID.? On
the same date, Orly and Hobby Lobby (“Orly Respondents™) filed a contingent petition for
review of the ID.> Amoji did not join Orly Respondents’ petition for review or file its own.

On January 31, 2023, Orly, Hobby Lobby, and Amoji filed a joint response to Crocs’s
petition for review,* and Crocs filed its response to Orly Respondents’ contingent petition for
review.? On the same date, OUII filed its response to both petitions for review.®

On April 5, 2023, the Commission determined to review the ID in part. Comm’n Notice
at 3-4 (Apr. 5, 2023); 88 Fed. Reg. 21712, 21713-714 (April 11, 2023). Specifically, the
Commission reviewed the ID’s findings that: (1) the Commission has subject matter
jurisdiction; (2) Crocs waived its infringement contentions against the lined version of Orly’s
Gators; (3) Crocs waived its infringement contentions against Defaulting Respondents; (4) Crocs
failed to prove that consumers were likely to confuse the accused products with the Asserted
Marks (“likelihood of confusion”); (5) Crocs failed to prove that Respondents falsely designated

the origin, or source, of the accused products (“false designation of origin”); (6) Crocs failed to

prove that Respondents improperly diluted the Asserted Marks, either by blurring or tarnishment

2 See Complainant Crocs, Inc.’s Petition for Review of Initial Determination (“Crocs’s Pet.”)
(Jan. 23, 2023).

3 See Respondents Orly and Hobby Lobby’s Contingent Petition for Commission Review (Jan.
23,2023).

* See Respondents’ Response to Crocs, Inc.’s Petition for Commission Review of Initial
Determination (Jan. 31, 2023) (“Resps’s Resp.”).

> See Complainant Crocs, Inc.’s Response to Respondents’ Contingent Petition for Review of
Initial Determination (Jan. 31, 2023).

6 See Response of the Office of Unfair Import Investigations to the Private Parties’ Petitions for
Review of the Initial Determination on Violation of Section 337 (Jan. 31, 2023) (“OUII’s

Reply”).
4
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(“dilution”); (7) the 3D Marks are not entitled to the presumption of validity and are invalid for
lack of secondary meaning; and (8) Crocs satisfied the technical and economic prongs of
domestic industry. /d.

On April 19, 2023, Crocs, the Orly Respondents, and OUII filed their responses to the
Commission’s notice of review.” On April 26, 2023, the parties filed their respective replies.®
Amoji did not file its own response or join the submissions filed by the Orly Respondents.

B. The Asserted Trademarks

1. The 3D Marks

The ID finds that the 3D Marks are “expressly limited to a specific combination of
articulated design elements” that are capable of distinguishing Crocs’s shoes. ID at 5-6.
Significantly, the 3D Marks “do not cover the entirety of the shoe or its overall look.” Id. at 5
(emphasis in ID). The reason is that overall look of a clog is a common or generic design

element that is not entitled to trademark protection, as explained below.

7 See Complainant Crocs, Inc.’s Opening Brief on the Commission’s Notice to Review-In-Part
the Final Initial Determination and Submission on Remedy, Bonding and Public Interest (Apr.
19, 2023) (“Crocs’s Resp.”); Respondents’ Response to the Commission’s April 5, 2023 Request
for Written Submissions on the Issues Under Review, Remedy, Bonding, and the Public Interest
(Apr. 19, 2023) (“Respondents’ Resp.”); Response of the Office of Unfair Import Investigations
to the Commission’s Request for Written Submissions on the Issues Under Review and on
Remedy, Bonding, and the Public Interest (Apr. 19, 2023) (“OUII’s Resp.”).

8 See Complainant Crocs, Inc.’s Response Brief Regarding Commission’s Notice to Review-In-
Part the Final Initial Determination (Apr. 26, 2023) (“Crocs’s Reply”); Respondents’ Reply to
Complainant Crocs, Inc.’s Opening Brief on Commission’s Notice to Review-In-Part the Final
Initial Determination and Submission on Remedy, Bonding, and Public Interest (Apr. 26, 2023)
(“Respondents’ Reply”); Reply Brief of the Office of Unfair Import Investigations on the Issues
Under Review and on Remedy, Bonding, and Public Interest (Apr. 26, 2023) (“OUII’s Reply”).

5
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b. The ’875 Mark

The *875 Mark was first used by Crocs in June 2003 and has a registration date of August
29,2017. Id. During prosecution, the trademark examiner made the following remarks:

In the present case, the overall clog shape of the proposed
configuration mark and the presence of a defined midsole and a
topline collar appear to represent generic elements commonly
present in waterproof strap clogs. These features are nondistinctive
and do not function as a mark because such elements are so common
in the industry for such products and are the same or substantially
similar to the designs of competitors’ products such that consumers
are accustomed to seeing such elements on similar products. Please
note that applicant’s assertion of acquired distinctiveness under
Trademark Act Section 2(f) does not avoid this requirement. No
amount of purported proof that generic or functional matter has
acquired secondary meaning can transform that matter into a
registrable trademark or service mark. [cites omitted].

JX-0005 at CROCS _ITC45704 (°875 Mark, file history).

The trademark examiner found certain other proposed elements (e.g., a tread on the sole
and circular rivets to enable the strap to be flipped forward) were functional and not entitled to
trademark protection. /d. The trademark examiner further remarked:

As such, applicant’s request to exclude other shoe manufacturers
from employing such ubiquitous or functional design elements
cannot be granted. The remaining elements of the proposed
configuration which appear potentially capable of distinguishing
applicant’s goods comprise the specific shape and placement of
ventilation/drainage holes, a pattern of texturing on the front and
heel area of the shoe, and the placement of a decorative band on
the strap feature.

Id. The 875 Mark, as issued, describes and claims the same design elements as the 328 Mark,
with the addition of a textured strip on the heel of the shoe and a decorative band along the

length of the heel strap, as shown below:

7
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1. COMMISSION REVIEW OF THE FINAL ID

When the Commission reviews an initial determination, in whole or in part, it reviews the
determination de novo. Certain Scft-Edged Trampolines and Components Therecf, Inv. No. 337-
TA-908, Comm’n Op. at 4 (May 1, 2015). Upon review, the “Commission has ‘all the powers
which it would have in making the initial determination,” except where the issues are limited on
notice or by rule.” Certain Flash Memory Circuits & Prods. Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-
TA-382, USITC Pub. No. 3046, Comm’n Op. at 9-10 (July 1997) (quoting Certain Acid-Washed
Denim Garments & Accessories, Inv. No. 337-TA-324, Comm’n Op. at 5 (Nov. 1992)). With
respect to the issues under review, “the Commission may affirm, reverse, modify, set aside or
remand for further proceedings, in whole or in part, the initial determination of the administrative
law judge.” 19 C.F.R. § 210.45(c). The Commission also “may take no position on specific
issues or portions of the initial determination,” and “may make any findings or conclusions that
in its judgment are proper based on the record in the proceeding.” Id.; see also Beloit Cotp. v.
Valmet Oy, 742 F.2d 1421, 1423 (Fed. Cir. 1984) (the Commission may reach a “no violation”
determination on a single dispositive issue and take no position on other, non-dispositive issues
or portions of the initial determination).

1IV. LEGAL PRINCIPLES

Section 337 prohibits unfair methods of competition and unfair acts in the importation of
articles into the United States, the threat or effect of which is to destroy or substantially injure an
industry in the United States. 19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(1)(A). Section 337 also prohibits “[t]he
importation into the United States, the sale for importation, or the sale within the United States
after importation by the owner, importer, or consignee, of articles that infringe a valid and
enforceable United States trademark registered under the Trademark Act of 1946 [15 U.S.C. §§

1051 ef seq., the “Lanham Act”].” 19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(1)(C).

13
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A. Trademark Infringement: Likelihood of Confusion

A complainant alleging infringement of a trademark or trade dress must show: (1) the
complainant owns the mark; (2) the respondent’s use of an allegedly similar mark to identify
goods and services causes a likelihood of consumer confusion; and (3) the asserted mark is valid
and legally protectable. Converse, Inc. v. ITC, 909 F.3d 1110, 1116 (Fed. Cir. 2018).

The complainant bears the burden of proving that consumers would likely confuse the
respondent’s mark with the asserted mark. Swagway, LLC v. ITC, 934 F.3d 1332, 1338 (Fed.
Cir. 2019). To determine whether a likelihood of confusion exists, a court considers the
following “DuPont factors”: (1) the similarity or dissimilarity of the marks in their entireties as
to appearance, sound, connotation and commercial impression; (2) the similarity or dissimilarity
and nature of the goods or services as described in an application or registration or in connection
with which a prior mark is in use; (3) the similarity or dissimilarity of established, likely-to-
continue trade channels; (4) the conditions under which and buyers to whom sales are made, i.e.
impulse versus careful, sophisticated purchasing; (5) the fame of the prior mark, including sales,
advertising, and length of use; (6) the number and nature of similar marks in use on similar
goods; (7) the nature and extent of any actual confusion; (8) the length of time during, and
conditions under which there has been concurrent use without evidence of actual confusion;

(9) the variety of goods on which a mark is or is not used, i.e., house mark, “family” mark, and
product mark; (10) the market interface between applicant and owner of a prior mark; (11) the
extent to which the applicant has a right to exclude others from use of its mark on its goods;

(12) the extent of potential confusion, i.e., whether de minimis or substantial; and (13) any other
established fact probative of the effect of use. Id. at 1338-39 (citing In re DuPont DeNemours &

Co., 476 F.2d 1357 (CCPA 1973) (“DuPont”)).
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The Commission is required to consider all DuPont factors for which evidence has been
submitted. /d. at 1339. These factors are accorded different weights in different circumstances
and should not be reduced to a mere tally of the factors. Id. at 1340. Marks that are not
substantially similar cannot infringe, for the Lanham Act prohibits passing off goods or services
as those of a competitor by employing substantially similar trade dress that is likely to confuse
consumers as to the source of the product. See Converse, 909 F.3d at 1124 (collecting cases).

B. Dilution

A respondent is liable for dilution of a trademark if the complainant can prove: (1) the
complainant owns a mark that is famous and distinctive; (2) a respondent is using a mark in
commerce that dilutes the famous mark; (3) the respondent’s use of the mark began after the
complainant’s mark became famous; and (4) the respondent’s use of its mark is likely to cause
dilution by blurring or tarnishment of the complainant’s mark. Coach Servs., Inc. v. Triumph
Learning LLC, 668 F.3d 1356, 1372 (Fed. Cir. 2012).

Dilution requires a showing that the mark is “widely recognized,” or famous, among the
general consuming public of the United States as a designation of source of the goods or services
of the mark’s owner. 15 U.S.C. § 1125(c)(2)(A). Fame for purposes of dilution is different than
fame for purposes of a likelihood of confusion and requires a more stringent showing. Coach
Servs., 668 F.3d at 1373. Fame for dilution either exists or it does not, whereas fame for
likelihood of confusion is a matter of degree along a continuum. /d.

Dilution may be caused by blurring or tarnishment. Dilution by “blurring” occurs when
similarities between a complainant’s famous mark and a respondent’s brand impair the
distinctiveness of the famous mark. 15 U.S.C. § 1125(c)(2)(B). Dilution by “tarnishment” arises

when similarities between an accused and famous marks harm the goodwill or reputation of the
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famous mark, such as by linking it to accused products of allegedly inferior quality. 15 U.S.C. §
1125(e)2)(C); L.L. Bean, Inc. v. Drake Publishers, Inc., 811 F.2d 26, 31 (1st Cir. 1987).

V. ANALYSIS

The Commission’s findings, conclusions, and supporting analysis follow. The
Commission takes no position on Orly’s alleged first sale, the presumption of validity, secondary
meaning, fair use, injury, and the technical and economic prongs of domestic industry. See at ID
92-126, 128-148. The Commission affirms and adopts the ID’s other findings, conclusions, and
supporting analysis that are not inconsistent with this Opinion.

A. “Subject Matter Jurisdiction” and Statutory Authority

The ID finds that the parties do not contest that the Commission has subject matter
jurisdiction over this investigation. See ID at 12.1° The Commission determined to review this
finding on its own initiative, pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.44. 88 Fed. Reg. at 21713 (issue (4)).

The Commission has previously held, “the concept of ‘subject matter jurisdiction’ does
not apply to administrative agencies.” Certain Silicon Photovoltaic Cells and Modules with
Nanostructure, and Products Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-1271, Notice of Commission
Determination to Review in Part and, on Review, to Affirm a Final Initial Determination Finding
No Violation at 3 (Feb. 27, 2023) (citing City ¢f Arlington, Tex. v. FCC, 569 U.S. 290, 297-98
(2013) (“Because the question — whether framed as an incorrect application of agency authority
or an assertion of authority not conferred — is always whether the agency has gone beyond what

Congress has permitted it to do, there is no principled basis for carving out some arbitrary subset

10 Specifically, the ID stated that “Respondents also do not contest subject matter jurisdiction,
personal jurisdiction, or in rem jurisdiction. RIB at 21-23. However, the parties do dispute
jurisdiction with respect to the Amoji Redesigns.” ID at 12. In particular, the parties disputed
whether the Amoji Redesigns were ripe for adjudication. Id. at 13-14. The ID finds, and the
Commission agrees, that those Redesigns were properly adjudicated. Id. at 14.
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of such claims as “jurisdictional.”)). The Commission finds instead that this investigation was
conducted pursuant to its statutory authority, as set forth in 19 U.S.C. § 1337.

B. Crocs Did Not Waive Its Allegations Against the Lined Versions of the
Accused Orly Gators

The ID finds that Crocs’s pre-hearing brief limited its infringement contentions against
the accused Orly Gators to two, unlined versions — the White Colorway Clog and the Flamingo
Colorway. ID at 17. The ID finds that Crocs did not address the lined Orly Gators in its pre-
hearing brief, and thus waived its arguments against the lined versions. /d. (citing Order No. 63
at 17, Ground Rule 11.2 (June 28, 2022)). Although Crocs’s post-hearing brief later included
“representative” images of both lined and unlined Orly Gators, the ID finds that Crocs failed to
establish that those images are representative of other Gator products. Id. The ID thus limited
Crocs to the two Gator products it addressed in its prehearing brief. Id.

The Commission has determined to reverse the ID’s finding of waiver with respect to the
lined Orly Gators and finds, instead, that Crocs failed to prove that either the lined or unlined
versions infringe the Asserted Marks, for the reasons given below.

The Commission finds that Crocs did not waive its infringement contentions as to the
lined version of the Orly Gator. Crocs’s pre-hearing brief expressly referenced both the lined
and unlined versions of the Orly Gators under the subheading “Respondents Orly’s and Hobby
Lobby’s Accused ‘Gator’ Products,” as well as in its infringement analysis. Crocs’s Pre-Hearing
Br. at 39-40, 68.!! Crocs alleged that “Orly considers [the Gators] to be one singular product it

sells,” even though “there are slight variations from shoe to shoe (some are lined, and some have

1 Crocs also indicated, however, that “[tJo Complainant’s knowledge, Hobby Lobby does not
market or sell a lined Gator.” Crocs’s Pre-Hearing Br. at 68 n.4.

17

Appx000028



Case: 24-1300 Document: 19 Page: 132 Filed: 06/10/2024

PUBLIC VERSION

a slightly different decorative band on the heel strap).” Id. at 68-69 (citing CX-1308C (Antebi
dep. tr.) at 213:25-214:15).

Crocs also alleged that “Orly’s and Hobby Lobby’s Accused Products,” in which it
included both the lined and unlined versions “are substantially similar to the Crocs 3D Marks in
their overall appearance and arrangement of elements; the elements of the shoe that correspond
to the 3D Marks evoke the same overall impression as the 3D Marks”; thus, they are
“confusingly similar to the 3D Marks.” Id. at 69-70. Crocs argued that “each Gator has all of
the elements featured in the 3D Marks with slight or no variations,” and any differences, such as
the number or arrangement of holes “in a negligibly different pattern [from the 3D Marks], is
irrelevant.” Id. at 70.

Crocs included photographs of both the lined and unlined versions of the accused Gators
under the subheadings “Orly and Hobby Lobby: Representativeness” and “Orly’s and Hobby
Lobby’s Accused Products Are Confusingly Similar to the 3D Marks.” Crocs’s Post-Hearing Br.
at 14-15, 17. Moreover, Crocs argued that “[e]ven the lined Gators, with no [heel] strap, make a
similar overall impression to the 3D Marks (and, at worst, contain all of the elements of the *328
Mark, which has no strap).” Id. at 18.

The Commission finds, then, that Crocs provided adequate notice that it was accusing the
lined Gators of infringing the 3D Marks for essentially the same reasons as the unlined versions.
See Crocs’s Pre-Hearing Br. at 69-75. Accordingly, the Commission reverses the ID’s findings
that “Crocs has waived any arguments with respect to the lined version of the Gator.” ID at 17.
The Commission further finds that Crocs failed to prove that the lined Gators infringe the 3D
Marks for the same reasons it failed to prove the unlined versions infringe the 3D Marks. See id.

at 19-52; see also irfra at Section V.C.

18

Appx000029



Case: 24-1300 Document: 19 Page: 133  Filed: 06/10/2024

PUBLIC VERSION

C. Infringement: Crocs Failed to Show Likelihood of Confusion

The ID finds that Crocs failed to prove that Orly, Hobby Lobby, or Amoji infringe the 3D
Marks or Word Mark. ID at 18-59 (analyzing 3D Marks), 60-71 (Word Mark). On review, the
Commission affirms the ID’s findings that Orly, Hobby Lobby, and Amoji do not infringe the
3D Marks or Word Mark, with additional, supporting reasoning regarding the 3D Marks below. !>

1. Similarity to the 3D Marks (DuPont factor 1)

The Commission adopts the ID’s findings that the Orly/Hobby Lobby Gator has a similar
overall commercial appearance to the 3D Marks, but the Orly/Hobby Lobby Redesign does not.
ID at 19-27,49. The Commission thus adopts the ID’s finding that the similarity to the 3D
Marks (DuPont factor one) leans in favor of likelihood of confusion for the Orly/Hobby Lobby
Gator, but leans against it for the Orly/Hobby Lobby Redesign. See id. at 27, 49.

The Commission finds, however, that the Amoji Garden Clog has noticeable differences
from the 3D Marks. These include a wide, raised tread on the side and underside of the sole
(including the heel) that is visible from the side view, whereas the 875 Registration depicts “a
textured strip on the heel of the shoe.” See ID at 7 (JX-0006 at CROCS_ITC046838), 11. In
addition, the Amoji Garden Clog has a set of larger hexagonal holes (as opposed to smaller,
round holes in the 3D Marks) on the upper, which are arranged in a somewhat more spread-out
pattern. See id. at 52-56. The Commission finds these and other differences noted in the 1D,
individually and collectively, give the Amoji Garden Clog a generally more rugged, heavier

appearance than the overall impression of the 3D Marks. The Commission thus modifies the ID

12 The Word Mark does not raise the same issues of limited scope and proper controls as the 3D
Marks. Thus, the Commission finds no infringement of the Word Mark based on the ID’s
findings. See ID at 60-71.
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to find that this factor is either neutral or leans only weakly in favor of likelihood of confusion
for the Amoji Garden Clog. (f id. at 56.

2. Similarity and Nature of the Goods (DuPont factor 2)

The Commission adopts the ID’s finding that this factor favors finding a likelihood of
confusion because the Orly Gator, Orly Redesign, Amoji Garden Clog, and Classic Clog are all
EVA clogs or molded, clog-type footwear. Id. at 27, 49, 56. The Commission declines to
“elevate[]” this factor, as Crocs advocates (Crocs’s Pet. at 74), and even assigns it lesser weight
because the trademark examiner found the clog to be a common feature of generic waterproof
strap clogs that is not entitled to trademark protection. See JX-0001 at CROCS 1TC044602-603;
JX-0005 at CROCS _ITC045703-704.

3. Conditions of Sale (DuPont factor 4)

The Commission affirms the ID’s finding that this factor weighs against likelihood of
confusion because the accused shoes have different tags and different price points than the Crocs
Classic Clogs (e.g., retail price of $6-10 for Orly Gators at Hobby Lobby vs. $40 or more for
Classic Clogs). Id. at 28-32, 50, 57. Even Crocs acknowledges that its Classic Clogs typically
retail for about $45.32, or sometimes as low as $35 (but not less than that), whereas Hobby
Lobby typically sells the Orly Gators for $10 or less. See Crocs’s Pet. at 74-75. The Amoji
Garden Clogs typically retail for about $26-30, which is about $15-20 less than the typical retail
price for the Classic Clog (except when the Classic Clog is on sale). Id. This pricing evidence,
as well as brands and tags on the respective clogs, indicates that consumers are aware that lower-
price alternatives to Classic Clogs are available, which is not likely to lead to confusion. See

RX-2092C (Wallace) at Q/A 149-54.
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4. Fame of the Mark (DuPont factor 5)

The Commission adopts the ID’s findings that Crocs’s evidence of extensive recognition
or acclaim for the 3D Marks is weak, as is its showing that the 3D Marks are famous. Id. at 32-
34, 51, 57. The Commission, however, modifies the ID to find this factor is neutral; it does not
weigh against the likelihood of confusion. See id.

As for Crocs’s complaint that the ID searched for fame of the 3D Marks “separate and
apart from the Classic Clog,” the Commission notes that the trademark examiner who examined
Crocs’s trademark applications found the clog itself to be a common design element that is not
entitled to trademark protection. See JX-0001 at CROCS_ITC044602-603; JX-0005 at
CROCS ITC045703-704. Thus, it is appropriate for the ID to distinguish between evidence of
the “fame” of the 3D Marks themselves as opposed to general recognition of the common clog.

Crocs also relies on the consumer survey conducted by its expert, Dr. Pittaoulis, as
evidence of “fame.” See Crocs’s Pet. at 87-88. As discussed in more detail below, Crocs does
not address a key flaw in Dr. Pittaoulis’s survey — that the black mesh slide she used as her
“control” image bears little resemblance to the elements of the test stimuli unrelated to the 3D
Marks, which rendered her survey results unreliable. See id.; ID at 38-42.

Even so, with respect to her “unbranded” control, Dr. Pittaoulis reported that over half
(52.2 percent) of her survey respondents believed the black mesh slide was from Crocs, despite
its substantial differences from the 3D Marks or from the unprotected elements of the test
stimuli, such as the overall clog shape and a heel strap. See ID at 39-42. To the extent her
survey can be taken into consideration, these results suggest that a large percentage of consumers
will associate a wide range of molded shoes, even mesh slides, with Crocs, despite their
differences to an actual clog or the 3D Marks. See CX-1835 (Pittaoulis) at Q/A 142; see also

RX-2092 (Wallace) at Q/A 124-25. This evidence tends to undercut Crocs’s argument that the
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3D Marks themselves are famous; rather, there are apparently other factors, such as the overall
clog or the Crocs’s name, that may account for a substantial share of its fame.

The Commission has considered Crocs’s other arguments and finds they do not lead to a
strong showing of fame for the 3D Marks, as opposed to the overall, generic clog. The
Commission thus finds this factor is neutral on the overall issue of likelihood of confusion.

5. Confusion (DuPont factors 7, 8. 12)

a. Actual confusion

The Commission agrees with the ID’s finding that Crocs’s alleged evidence of actual
confusion is ambiguous and weak, and thus adopts its finding that this factor is neutral. See ID at
34-36. Crocs relies on only two social media posts that allegedly show actual confusion, despite
the allegedly extensive sales by Respondents. See id. at 34-35 (discussing CX-0815; CX-0813);
see also Crocs’s Pet. at 51-52. These two posts refer to purchasing “crocs” at Hobby Lobby,
which suggests they were using the term generically, although this is not clear. See ID at 34-35;
see also RX-2092 (Wallace) at Q/A 126-27 (survey shows consumers views “Crocs” more as a
descriptor than a source). At a minimum, these posts do not prove the writers were actually
confusing the Hobby Lobby “crocs” with the Crocs Classic Clog. Also, the fact that respondents
did not prove that the trademark “CROCS” is generic does not resolve the ambiguous nature of
these specific posts. See id. at 126-28.

The Commission also finds that even if it were to credit the testimony of Orly’s former
Chief Operating Officer, Mr. Shaikh, as evidence of actual confusion, as Crocs argues, his
alleged confusion occurred during a deposition, and he corrected himself after he had a chance to
view the images more closely. Moreover, his testimony provides little, if any, evidence of actual
consumer confusion in a more real-life setting, as it does not take into account differences in

prices, tags, material, or other factors that may affect the likelihood of confusion for a reasonable
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consumer. See ID at 35-36. Mr. Shaikh’s testimony was also directed only to the original Orly
Gator, and not the Orly Redesign, Amoji Garden Clog, or any other accused shoe. See id. at
35. The Commission finds the ID was correct in assigning Mr. Shaikh’s testimony and Crocs’s
other evidence of alleged actual confusion as “de minimis” in view of the volume of sales of the
accused products. See id.

The ID finds that Crocs produced no evidence of actual confusion regarding the Amoji
Garden Clogs. Id. at 57-58. The Commission adopts the ID’s finding that this factor is neutral
regarding the overall issue of likelihood of confusion. /d. at 36, 51, 58.

b. Pittaoulis Survey on Consumer Confusion

The Commission adopts the ID’s findings that Dr. Pittaoulis’s consumer surveys were
unreliable and entitled to no weight, with the following additional findings. See ID at 37-42, 51.
The ID properly finds that the 3D Marks are “expressly limited to a specific combination of
articulated design elements” of a shoe (e.g., the number, shape, and pattern of holes on the
horizontal and vertical portions of the clog’s upper) and thus “do nof cover the entirety of the
[Classic Clog] or its overall look.” See ID at 5-7 (describing 3D Marks); see also RX-2092C
(Wallace) at Q/A 39-53 (describing numerous problems with using the black mesh slide as a
control). In addition to the issues raised in the ID, the Commission notes that this distinction
between the 3D Marks and the “overall look™ of the Classic Clog is important because the strap
clog itself is a common feature that is not entitled to trademark protection. See JX-0001 at
CROCS 1TC044602-603; JX-0005 at CROCS_1TC045703-704. The Commission finds, then,
that Crocs has not convincingly tied its evidence of confusion to the 3D Marks themselves, as
opposed to the overall shape, functionality, or other unclaimed features of the Classic Clog. Id.

at 5-6.
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As can be seen above, Dr. Pittaoulis’s control changed not only the design elements of
the 3D Marks but also the very shape, look, feel, and character of the shoe itself. Id. at 40-41.
For example, Dr. Pittaoulis’s control cannot even be characterized as a clog-type shoe, nor does
it possess the more rigid construction of a clog, the more defined upper, the thick sole, visible
arch, or thick heel of the 3D Marks in the Classic Clog. See CX-1835 (Pittaoulis) at Q/A 71,
100. Rather, Dr. Pittaoulis’s so-called “control” was a pliable, black mesh water shoe, or “slide,”
with a number of substantially different features, including: (i) a lower, more squat overall
shape; (i1) a mesh upper with far more holes but of no particular pattern; (iii) no definite pattern
of enlarged holes located around the vertical portion of the upper (above the sole); (iv) a thin sole
of essentially uniform thickness with no visible arch or heel; (v) a dark color; and (vi) a white
line running around the front portion between the sole and the upper. See RX-2092C (Wallace)
at Q/A 40-42; Hr’g Tr. (Pittaoulis) at 363:8-21, 364:11-24, 366:24-367:3, 368:5-369:4 (discussed
in ID at 40-41). Any one of these differences, Dr. Pittaoulis testified, might have influenced the
responses of survey participants. Hr’g Tr. (Pittoulis) at 369:23-370:10.

Taken as whole, the substantial differences between Dr. Pittaoulis’s control and the
elements of the test stimuli unrelated to the 3D Marks clouded the reliability of the survey,
making it difficult, if not impossible, to determine if survey respondents were reacting to the
absence of the 3D Marks (the purpose of the control), or to the absence of the many other,
unclaimed features in the control, described above. See ID at 41-42; RX-2092C (Wallace) at

Q/A 42-44.
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whether or to what extent the survey respondents were making associations due to the design
elements covered by the 3D Marks as opposed to other influences not covered by the 3D Marks
(such as the overall look and design of the Classic Clog). See ID at 42 n.21 (citing RX-0006C at
Q/A 15, 22, 30); RX-2092C (Wallace) at Q/A 45-49.

The Commission further notes that over half (52-53 percent) of the survey respondents
erroneously associated Dr. Pittaoulis’ unbranded black mesh slide with Crocs, despite its many
differences from the unprotected elements of the Classic Clog design, such as the overall clog
shape and a heel strap, to say nothing of the 3D Marks.!> ID at 39 (citing CX-1835 at Q/A 101-
104). To the extent these results can be relied upon, they indicate there is about a 50/50 chance a
consumer may identify almost any molded slide with Crocs, despite their many differences from
the Classic Clog (and the 3D Marks). See CX-1835 (Pittaoulis) at Q/A 142; see also RX-2092
(Wallace) at Q/A 124-25. While such a high association rate may indicate widespread
recognition of the Crocs name, the Commission finds that a high margin of error of about 50
percent offers another reason why gross association rates cannot be taken at face value, while
underscoring the need for effective, carefully designed controls. See 6 McCarthy § 32:187.

The ID thus correctly finds that the Pittaoulis surveys are not reliable or persuasive. The
Commission adopts the ID’s finding that this evidence leans against finding a likelihood of
confusion, or at least does not reliably support it. See ID at 45.

c. Wallace Surveys of Consumer Confusion

The Commission also adopts the ID’s finding that Mr. Wallace’s consumer surveys,

unlike those of Dr. Pittaoulis, are reliable because he properly removed the features relevant to

15 The gross association rate for the Amoji Garden Clog dropped to 34.7 percent when the
control image was “branded.” 1D at 38-39.
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Crocs’s criticisms of Mr. Wallace’s surveys are unavailing. In particular, Crocs
complained that Mr. Wallace’s controls, including the pattern of holes in the horizonal portion of
their uppers, were too similar to the test images (with the 3D Marks) to serve as effective
controls. Crocs’s Pet. at 55, 62-65. The Commission disagrees, finding instead that Mr.
Wallace’s controls have no holes at all in the vertical portion of the upper (above the sole), which
eliminates drainage from the clog and generally gives the control a heavier, more rigid
appearance. See ID at 42, 45. The Commission also finds the holes on top have a substantially
different shape (pill-shaped vs. round), and they are fewer in number, larger, and arranged
differently than the “pattern of 13 round holes on the horizontal portion of the upper of the shoe”
in the 3D Marks. Id. As a result of these and other features, such as the lack of texturing on the
side of the sole, the Commission finds the Wallace controls are not confusingly similar to the 3D
Marks. Id.; RX-2092C (Wallace) at Q/A 71-75, 79-87.

As for Crocs’s complaint that a 70 percent gross association rate indicates that the
Wallace control is too similar to the 3D Marks to be reliable, the Commission notes that Dr.
Pittaoulis’s own survey shows that about half of consumers would associate even a black mesh
slide with Crocs, despite its significant differences from the Classic Clog. See ID at 39; RX-
2092 (Wallace) at Q/A 71-75. The mere use of a common generic clog, as opposed to a black
mesh slide, may account for a substantial portion of the remaining 20 percent difference between
the gross association rates for the Wallace control and the Pittaoulis control (to the extent these
results can even be compared). See ID at 44.

At any rate, these survey results indicate that the high gross association rates cited by
Crocs do not provide reliable evidence of a likelihood of confusion over the 3D Marks, as

opposed other potential influences, such as the clog itself. Crocs does not explain how one could
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determine whether or not the survey participants’ gross association rates (e.g., 73-79.5 percent)
between the Accused Products and Crocs were due to similarities to the 3D Marks or to other,
non-trademarked influences or design elements, such as the overall look of the Classic Clog. See
id. at 44; see also JX-0001 at CROCS_ITC044602-603; JX-0005 at CROCS_ITC045703-704.
As noted above, gross association rates effectively represent the influence of all (trademark and
non-trademarked) influences on association and do not filter out any unwanted influences, as a
properly designed control is supposed to do. See 6 McCarthy § 32:187; CX-1835 (Pittaoulis) at
Q/A 43,75, 100; RX-2092C (Wallace) at Q/A 43-44, 71, 72. As a result, Crocs cannot rely on
the Wallace surveys to satisfy its own burden of proving that consumers are likely to confuse the
Accused Products with Crocs due to the 3D Marks or to otherwise overcome the deficiencies in
the Pittaoulis surveys.

The Commission thus adopts the ID’s finding that the Wallace surveys weigh against
finding a likelihood of confusion. ID at 45. At a minimum, the Commission finds that neither
the Pittaoulis survey nor the Wallace survey provides reliable, affirmative evidence of a
likelihood of confusion for the Accused Products. Accordingly, the Commission adopts the ID’s
tinding that DuPont factors 7, 8, and 12 weigh against finding a likelihood of confusion between
the Accused Products and the 3D Marks. See id. at 45, 48-49, 51-52. 57-58.

6. Variety of Goods (DuPont factor 9)

The ID finds that DuPont factor 9 (variety of goods) weighs against a likelihood of
confusion because Crocs does not use its Asserted Marks on any goods other than footwear. 1D
at 46, 51, 58. Crocs argued in its petition for review that while it may be true that the use of the
same mark on a variety of goods may strengthen consumer associations with that mark, there is

no reason why the reverse is true — that the use of the mark on one specific good somehow
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weakens the mark. Crocs’s Pet. at 76-77. Crocs argued that, if anything, this factor should be
neutral rather than weigh in favor of likelihood of confusion. /d.

The Trademark Trial and Appeal Board (“TTAB”) has held that where the subject
trademark is not used on a variety of goods or services, the ninth DuPont factor should be
viewed as neutral on likelihood of confusion. See StarStruck Entertainment v. The Alexander
Trust, 2022 WL 17370234 at *22 (TTAB Nov. 16, 2022). Since Crocs does not use its Asserted
Marks on a variety of goods (beyond footwear), the Commission finds this factor is neutral.

Not even Crocs, however, argues that this factor should weigh in favor of likelihood of
confusion. Thus, even when DuPont factors 5 and 9 are changed from negative to neutral, and
with other modifications made above, this does not change the Commission’s finding that the
overall weight of the DuPont factors leans against finding a likelihood of confusion. The
Commission adopts the ID’s findings with respect to the other DuPont factors and likelihood of
confusion, to the extent they are consistent with this Opinion.

In sum, the Commission adopts the ID’s finding that Crocs failed to prove likelihood of
confusion or infringement of the Asserted Marks. See, e.g., ID at 28-35, 46-49, 50-52, 57-59.

D. Crocs Did Not Waive Its Infringement Contentions Against Defaulting
Respondents for Purposes of Relief under Section 337(g)(1)

The ID finds that Crocs waived its violation and remedy arguments against the four
Defaulting Respondents (La Modish, Star Bay, Huizhou, and Anao) by not including those
arguments in its pre-hearing brief. ID at 71-72. In particular, the ID finds that Crocs failed to
mention Defaulting Respondents in its pre-hearing brief, identify the trademarks being asserted
against them, analyze their products, or explain why a CDO should issue against them. /d.

Crocs challenged the ID’s finding of waiver, arguing that the Commission, upon finding

a party in default, “shall presume the facts alleged in the complaint to be true” and “shall, upon
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request, issue an exclusion from entry or a cease and desist order [“CDO”], or both” against each
Defaulting Respondent. Crocs’s Pet. at 5 (quoting 19 U.S.C. § 1337(g)(1}(E); 19 C.F.R.

§ 210.16(c)). There was no need, Crocs argues, to address Defaulting Respondents in its pre-
hearing brief because there were no “contested matters” regarding them, and thus no issues to be
briefed under the ALJ’s ground rules. /d. at 6 (citing 19 U.S.C. § 1337(c); Order No. 63, Ground
Rule 11.2). Crocs argued that, to the extent there were any “contested matters” regarding
Defaulting Respondents, it briefed them in the context of seeking a general exclusion order
(“GEO”).'¢ Id. at 7, 20.

Respondents asserted that the ID accurately describes the procedural history of Crocs’s
contentions, but they took no position on the issue of waiver in response to Crocs’s petition for
review. See Resps.’s Resp. at 4. OUII opposed Crocs’s petition, arguing that Crocs is not
entitled to presume the allegations of the complaint against the Defaulting Respondents are true,
per section 337(g)(1), because Crocs is continuing to seek a GEO, and not “relief limited solely
to that person [respondent].” See OUII’s Reply at 3-6 (discussing 19 U.S.C. § 1337(g)(1)).

Upon review of the ID, the parties’ submissions, and the record, the Commission has
determined to set aside the ID’s findings with respect to waiver as they do not apply to issuance
of an LEO or CDO against a party found in default, pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(g)(1). When
the Commission found the Defaulting Respondents in default after their failure to respond to the
complaint and notice of investigation and the ALJ’s show cause order, the Commission held that

the “Non-Participating [or Defaulting] Respondents have therefore waived their right to appear,

16 Crocs requested a GEO, or in the alternative, an LEO, as well as CDOs against all
respondents, including Defaulting Respondents. See Crocs’s Pre-Hearing Br. at 299, 302;
Crocs’s Post-Hearing Br. at 194, 196-97.
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be served with documents, and to contest the allegations at issue in the investigation.” Order No.
58 at 2 (May 20, 2022), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (June 10, 2023).

Section 337(g)(1) states that, once a party is found in default, “the Commission shall
presume the facts alleged in the complaint to be true and shall, upon request, issue an exclusion
from entry [i.e., LEO] or a cease and desist order, or both, limited to that person,” unless the
Commission finds the public interest factors weigh against exclusion. See 19 U.S.C. §
1337(g)(1) (emphasis added); Laerdal Medical Corp. v. ITC, 910 F.3d 1207, 1212 (Fed. Cir.
2018) (“shall” unambiguously requires the Commission to issue an LEO or CDO, or both, if the
statutory requirements are satisfied, subject to public interest concerns). Accordingly, there were
no violation issues left to be resolved for the Defaulting Respondents and thus no need to present
infringement contentions with respect to those respondents in Crocs’s prehearing brief to obtain
relief limited to them under section 337(g)(1).

The Commission’s determinations on remedy and the public interest are discussed below.

E. Crocs Failed to Show False Designation of Origin

The ID finds that Crocs failed to prove that Respondents’ mark is so confusingly similar
to the 3D Marks that there is a likelihood of confusion as to the source of the goods. 1D at 72-73
(citing Ross Bicycles, Inc. v. Cycles USA, Inc., 765 F.2d 1502, 1503-04 (11th Cir. 1985)). The
ID notes that the factors relevant to establishing false designation of origin under section 1125(a)
of the Lanham Act (15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)) are identical to the factors for evaluating likelihood of
confusion with respect to trademark infringement (15 U.S.C. § 1114). Id. (same). The ID finds
that Crocs failed to show likelihood of confusion for false designation of origin for the same

reasons it failed to prove likelihood of confusion for infringement, as discussed supra. Id. at 73.
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The Commission determined to review the ID’s findings on false designation of origin.
88 Fed. Reg. at 21713 (issue (6)). Having affirmed the ID’s findings of no likelihood of
confusion, supra, the Commission affirms the ID’s findings of no false designation of origin
under 19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(1)(A) and 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a). See ID at 73.

Given that Crocs failed to prove false designation of origin, the Commission, like the ID
(at 130), takes no position on whether Crocs demonstrated an injury or threat of injury
requirement, as required by 19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(1)(A). See Beloit, 742 F.2d at 1423.

F. Crocs Failed to Show Dilution by Blurring or Tarnishment

The ID finds that Crocs failed to prove that Respondents violated section 337 by diluting
Crocs’s Asserted Trademarks, either by blurring or tarnishment. ID at 73-86. The “threshold
question” for dilution, the ID notes, is whether the mark is “famous,” i.e., “widely recognized by
the general consuming public of the United States as a designation of source of the goods or
services of the mark’s owner.” Id. at 74 (quoting 15 U.S.C. § 1125(c)(2)(A)). Although “fame”
is a factor for both dilution and likelihood of confusion, the ID notes that they are “distinct
concepts,” for “dilution fame is difficult to prove” and “requires a more stringent showing” than
fame for likelihood of confusion. Id. at 76 (citing inter alia Coach Servs., 668 F.3d at 1373).

The Commission determined to review the ID’s findings on dilution, including fame, in
keeping with its determination to review the ID’s related findings on likelihood of confusion.

1. The 3D Marks

The ID finds that the 3D Marks are not famous because consumer surveys and other
evidence show that consumers identify the overall shape and design of the Classic Clog, but not
the 3D Marks, with Crocs. ID at 76-78 (factor 1), 79-82 (factor 3)). The ID thus finds it is not
necessary to address blurring or tarnishment any further. /d. at 83, 86, 149. The ID also finds

Respondents’ “fair use” defense to be inapplicable where there is no dilution. Id. at 128-29.
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The Commission has determined to affirm the ID’s findings on review. As noted above,
fame for dilution purposes “requires a more stringent showing” than fame for likelihood of
confusion. Id. at 76. Having affirmed that Crocs failed to prove the relatively less stringent
standard of likelihood of confusion for infringement, the Commission affirms that Crocs also has
not satisfied the more stringent standard of fame for purposes of dilution. See id. at 77-82.

Accordingly, the Commission affirms the ID’s findings of no dilution of the 3D Marks by
blurring or tarnishment, for the reasons given in the ID. See id. at 74, 76, 86.

2. The Word Mark

The ID finds that the Word Mark, in contrast to the 3D Marks, is famous because
“CROCS?” is used extensively in the company’s advertising and social media platforms, it
exhibits high degrees of consumer recognition, sales of products bearing the “CROCS” label
have been substantial, and the mark is federally registered. Id. at 82-83. Nonetheless, the ID
finds that neither Orly nor Hobby Lobby is liable for dilution of the Word Mark because there is
no compelling evidence of any actual or intended association between the Accused Products and
the Word Mark. Id. at 84-86. In particular, the ID finds that Orly’s use of the accused
“GATOR” mark is “unremarkable” and dissimilar from the asserted “CROCS” mark. Id.

While the ID finds Hobby Lobby’s “CROC” mark to be more similar to “CROCS,” the
ID concludes, based on consumer surveys, that consumers do not associate “CROC” (or
“GATOR,” for that matter) with “CROCS.” Id. at 84-86 (citing, inter alia, RX-2092C at Q/A
133-42). The ID finds that Hobby Lobby uses the term “CROC” (or “CROC SLIDES”) as part
the phrase “SPRING SHOP—WEARABLE ART/FOOTWEAR-CROC SLIDES,” which
appears in small print on a tab on the back of the Accused Products. Id. at 65, 85 (citing, inter
alia, RX-2092C at Q/A 112). Although the ID finds that “CROC” is similar to “CROCS,”

Hobby Lobby contends that it used “CROC” more as a product descriptor (“CROC-SLIDES”)
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The Commission adopts the ID’s findings to the extent they are not inconsistent with this
Opinion. Accordingly, the Commission affirms the ID’s findings that Crocs failed to prove
Respondents diluted the Word Mark by blurring or tarnishment.

G. Domestic Industry

For the foregoing reasons, the Commission has adopted, with some modifications, the
ID’s findings that Crocs failed to prove a violation of section 337. Accordingly, the Commission
has determined to take no position on the ID’s findings on whether Crocs satisfied the technical
or economic prongs of the domestic industry requirement, pursuant to Beloit, 742 F.2d at 1423.

H. Remedy, Public Interest, and Bonding

1. Remedy

The Commission has “broad discretion in selecting the form, scope, and extent of the
remedy.” Visccfan, S.A. v. US. Int’] Trade Comm’n, 787 F.2d 544, 548 (Fed. Cir. 1986). In the
ALJ’s recommended determination (“RD”), the ALJ recommends that if a violation is found,
then a GEO should issue as the additional requirements of section 337(d)(2) are met. RD at 150-
51. Alternatively, the RD recommends an LEO and CDOs issue directed to the participating
respondents. /d. at 152-54. The RD recommends no remedy issue against Defaulting
Respondents. Id. at 155-56.

Crocs may not seek a GEO under section 337(g)(2) because other respondents appeared
to contest the investigation and thus the requirements of this provision are not met. See 19
U.S.C. § 1337(g)(2). Instead, Crocs must seek relief instead under section 337(d) for a
GEO. See 19 U.S.C. §§ 1337(d); see also Certain High-Density Fiber Cptic Equipment and
Components Therecf, Inv. No. 337-TA-1194, Comm’n Op. at 85-87 (Aug. 3, 2021) (holding that
when a GEO is sought and some respondents participate, the Commission evaluates exclusion
against defaulting respondents under section 337(d)(2), not 337(g)(2)); Certain Vaporizer
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Cartridges and Components Therecf, Inv. No. 337-TA-1211, Comm’n Op. at 13 n.22 (March 1,
2022) (same); Certain Water Filters and Components Therecf, Inv. No. 337-TA-1126, Comm’n
Op. at 13 n.2 (Nov. 15, 2019) (same). Unlike section 337(g)(1), section 337(d) does not
authorize or direct the Commission simply to presume the allegations of the complaint to be
true. Here, Crocs has not met its burden to show a violation under section 337(d). Accordingly,
the Commission has determined not to issue the requested GEO because none of the participating
or default respondents was found to be in violation.

Having determined not to issue a GEO, the Commission has determined to issue an LEO
against each of the Defaulting Respondents. As explained earlier, the Commission is required to
issue requested remedies limited to parties found in default when the conditions of section
337(g)(1) are met and the Commission finds that the public interest factors (discussed below) do

not preclude such a remedy. See 19 U.S.C. § 1337(g)(1); Laerdal, 910 F.3d at 1212.
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The Commission has also determined to issue CDOs against defaulting respondents Star

Bay and La Modish pursuant to section 337(g)(1). 19 U.S.C. § 1337(g)(1). The Commission takes

no action concerning the issuance of CDOs to defaulting respondents Huizhou and Anao.!”-!%1

17 Commissioners Schmidtlein and Karpel would issue CDOs against each of the
Defaulting Respondents while Chairman Johanson and Commissioner Stayin would not issue
CDOs against respondents Huizhou and Anao. Commissioner Kearns does not reach any
remedy issues concerning violation, including whether to issue CDOs against Defaulting
Respondents, as explained in his Dissenting Views. Accordingly, as there is no majority vote to
issue CDOs against respondents Huizhou and Anao, the Commission takes no action on that
issue.

1¥ Chairman Johanson and Commissioner Stayin maintain the Commission’s policy of
issuing a CDO to a foreign defaulting respondent only where the respondent maintains
commercially significant inventories in the U.S. or has significant domestic operations. See, e.g.,
Certain Water Filters and Components Therecf, Inv. No. 337-TA-1126, Comm’n Op. at 11
(November 12, 2019) (holding, with respect to foreign defaulting respondents, that “[t]he
Commission has generally issued a CDO when, with respect to the imported infringing products,
a respondent maintains commercially significant inventories in the U.S. or has significant
domestic operations that could undercut the remedy provided by an exclusion order.”); see also,
Certain Llectric Nicotine Delivery Systems and Components Therecf, Inv. No. 337-TA-1139,
Comm’n Op. at 14—15 (May 5, 2020). This differs from the established practice where a
domestic respondent is found in default and “the Commission presumes the presence of
commercially significant inventories in the United States to warrant a cease and desist order.” In
the Matter cf Certain Oil-Vaping Cartridges, Components Therecf, & Prod. Containing the
Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-1286, Comm’n Op. at 20-21 (Aug. 1, 2023).

¥ Commissioners Schmidtlein and Karpel would issue CDOs against all of the
Defaulting Respondents. As Commissioners Schmidtlein and Karpel have explained in previous
investigations and subject to public interest considerations, section 337(g)(1) directs the
Commission, upon request, to issue an exclusion from entry or a cease and desist order, or both,
limited to a defaulting respondent when the criteria set forth in section 337(g)(1)(A)-(E) have
been met. See, e.g., Certain High-Density Fiber Cptic Equipment and Components Therecf, Inv.
No. 337-TA-1194, Comm’n Op. at 87 n.50 (Aug. 23, 2021) (Public Vers.). Here, each of
Defaulting Respondents La Modish, Star Bay, Huizhou, and Anao was named in the complaint
or amended complaint, and each was served the complaint/amended complaint and notice of
investigation. See Order No. 55 (Apr. 26, 2022); Order No. 58 (May 20, 2022), unreviewed by
Comm’n Notice (June 10, 2022). Each Defaulting Respondent failed to show good cause why
they should not be held in default for failing to respond to the complaint/amended complaint and
notice of investigation. See id. These findings satisfy subsections 337(g)(1)(A)-
(D). Furthermore, as noted, Crocs renewed its request for an LEO directed to each of the
Defaulting Respondents if the Commission did not issue a GEO, as well as its request for CDOs
directed to each of the Defaulting Respondents, in its initial submission on remedy, bonding, and
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2. The Public Interest

Pursuant section 337(g)(1), the Commission

shall presume the facts alleged in the complaint to be true and shall, upon

request, issue an exclusion from entry or a cease and desist order, or both,

limited to that person unless, after considering the effect of such exclusion
or order upon the public health and welfare, competitive conditions in

the United States economy, the production of like or directly

competitive articles in the United States, and United States consumers,
the Commission finds that such exclusion or order should not be issued.

19 U.S.C. § 1337(g)(1 XE).

In their response to the Commission’s request for briefing on the public interest, none of
the parties present any argument that the issuance of remedial orders against the Defaulting
Respondents would be contrary to the public interest. Rather, Crocs contends that the issuance
of orders would not impact the public health or welfare, non-infringing substitutes are readily
available, Crocs has the production capacity to meet U.S. consumer demand, and there would be
no impact on U.S. consumers as Crocs and third parties provide non-infringing alternatives.
Crocs’s Resp. at 44-49; accord OUII’s Resp. at 25-28. Respondents provide no discussion
concerning the public interest in their submissions. See Respondents’ Resp.; Respondents’
Reply.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that issuance of the requested remedy against the

Defaulting Response would not be adverse to the public interest.

3. Bonding

If the Commission enters an exclusion order or a cease and desist order, a respondent

may continue to import and sell its products during the 60-day period of Presidential review

the public interest, thus satisfying subsection 337(g)(1)(E). As each of the requirements under
section 337(g)(1) have been satisfied, Commissioners Schmidtlein and Karpel presume the facts
in the complaint and amended complaint as to a violation to be true and would issue an LEO and
CDOs directed to each of the Defaulting Respondents.
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under a bond in an amount determined by the Commission to be “sufficient to protect the
complainant from any injury.” 19 U.S.C. § 1337(j)(3); see also 19 C.F.R. § 210.50(a)}(3). When
reliable price information is available in the record, the Commission has often set the bond in an
amount that would eliminate the price differential between the domestic product and the
imported, infringing product. See Certain Microsphere Adhesives, Processes for Making Same,
& Prods. Containing Same, Including Se f-stick Repositionable Notes, Inv. No. 337-TA-366,
USITC Pub. No. 2949, Comm’n Op. at 24 (Jan. 16, 1996). The Commission also has used a
reasonable royalty rate to set the bond amount where a reasonable royalty rate could be
ascertained from the evidence in the record. See, e.g., Certain Audio Digital-to-Analog
Converters & Prods. Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-499, Comm’n Op. at 25 (Mar. 3, 2005).
Where the record establishes that the calculation of a price differential is impractical or there is
insufficient evidence in the record to determine a reasonable royalty, the Commission has
imposed a 100 percent bond. See, e.g., Certain Liquid Crystal Display Modules, Prods.
Containing Same, & Methods Using the Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-634, Comm’n Op. at 6-7 (Nov.
24,2009). The complainant, however, bears the burden of establishing the need for a bond.
Certain Rubber Antidegradants, Components Therecf & Prods. Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-
TA-533, USITC Pub. No. 3975, Comm’n Op. at 40 (July 21, 2006).%°

The Commission has determined to impose a bond in the amount of 100 percent of the

entered value of the covered products imported by the Defaulting Respondents during the 60-day

20 Commissioner Schmidtlein finds that section 337 does not authorize respondents subject to
remedial relief under subsection 337(g)(1) to import infringing products under bond during the
Presidential review period for the reasons explained in Certain Centr fuge Utility Pla.form and
Falling Film Evaporator Systems and Components Therecf, Inv. No. 337-TA-1311, Comm’n
Notice at 5, n.5 (March 23, 2023). She therefore would not permit the Defaulting Respondents
to import infringing products under bond during the Presidential review period.
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in how I weigh this evidence against the survey evidence. As explained below, courts and the
Trademark Trial and Appeal Board (TTAB) have found mark and product similarities like these
sufficient to establish infringement on their own; survey evidence was not required. In my view,
that is the right outcome here, given how clear and strong the similarities are. I also don’t put as
much stock in the Respondents’ survey evidence.

I also part ways with the ID because I find that the 3D Marks (including the holes,
trapezoids, and strap) make the Classic Clog distinctive and famous (DuPont factor 5); elements
of the shoe that are generic, such as the overall clog shape, do not — and, by definition, cannot —
make the shoe distinctive or famous. Thus, this factor lends considerable further support to a
finding of infringement.

Based on these findings and others described below, I therefore respectfully dissent.

I. TRADEMARK INFRINGEMENT: LIKELIHOOD OF CONFUSION

A. Legal Standard

The ID and my colleagues accurately describe the “DuPont factors” we consider in
determining whether a likelihood of confusion exists. ID at 15-16; Majority Opinion at 13-14. 1
focus on two further legal principles as discussed below.

As an initial matter, “the first DuPont factor, the similarity or dissimilarity of the marks
themselves, may be dispositive of the issue.” McCarthy on Trademarks and Unfair Competition
§ 23:79 (5™ ed.) (“McCarthy”). Even more so, where there are not only similarities between the
marks, but also similarities between the goods (the second DuPont factor), a likelihood of
confusion is even clearer. “While it must consider each [DuPont] factor for which it has
evidence, the [decisionmaker] may focus its analysis on dispositive factors, such as similarity ¢ f
the marks and relatedness cf the goods.” Han Beauty, Inc. v. Alberto-Culver Co., 236 F.3d 1333,

1336 (Fed. Cir. 2001) (emphasis added). These are “two key considerations” in the DuPont
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analysis. In re SL&FE Training Stable, Inc., 88 U.S.P.Q.2d 1216, 2008 WL 4107225 (T.T.A.B.
2008).!

It follows that neither survey evidence nor direct evidence of actual confusion is a
prerequisite to granting relief. “[A]ll courts agree that survey evidence is not required to prove a
likelihood of confusion.” McCarthy at § 23:17; see Swagway, LLC v. International Trade
Commission, 934 F.3d 1332, 1339-1340 (Fed. Cir. 2019) (affirming Commission’s finding of a
likelihood of confusion based on the degree of similarity between the two marks and the strength
of the marks, despite no evidence of actual confusion and complainant’s failure to present survey
evidence). A finding of infringement can instead be “based on an inference arising from a
judicial comparison of the conflicting marks themselves and the context of their use in the
marketplace.” McCarthy § 23:63.

In Fort James Cperating Company v. Royal Paper Converting, Inc., 83 U.S.P.Q.2d 1624,
2007 WL 1676779 (2007), the TTTAB considered within the DuPont framework whether the
pattern on the first paper towel, below, was likely to be confused with the following two patterns,

which were already registered trademarks under the name Brawny, among other names.

! The importance of these first two DuPont factors is also reflected in the text of the Agreement
between the United States of America, the United Mexican States, and Canada (USMCA):
“Each Party shall provide that the owner of a registered trademark has the exclusive right to
prevent third parties ... from using in the course of trade identical or similar signs ... for goods
or services that are related to those goods or services in respect of which the owner’s trademark
is registered, if that use would result in a likelihood of confusion. In the case of the use of an
identical sign for identical goods or services, a likelihood of confusion shall be presumed.”
USMCA, Article 20.19 (emphasis added).
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between the Skechers three-stripe design and adidas’s Three-Stripe mark.” /d. The court found
this factor “weighs heavily in adidas’s favor.” Id.

The court then recognized that adidas and Skechers both “make athletic and casual
footwear” and that “the products are reasonably interchangeable by buyers for the same
purposes.” Id. (Under Federal Circuit jurisprudence, of course, this analysis corresponds to
DuPont factor 2.) The court found that this factor also “weighed strongly in adidas’s favor.” Id.

The court then found that the two products are sold in a common marketing channel, and
noted that, taken together, “the similarity of the marks, relatedness of the goods, and this third
factor, the ‘use of a common marketing channel’ are the key factors in the [Ninth Circuit’s]
Sleekcraft analysis [akin to the DuPont analysis]. GoTo.com, 202 F.3d at 1205 (referring to these
first three factors as the “controlling troika”).” Id. at 1242. The court found that other factors,
such as the strength of the mark, the lack of care that an ordinary purchaser is likely to exercise in
purchasing inexpensive athletic shoes, and Skechers’ intent in selecting its mark, also supported a
finding of confusion. /d. at 1243-44.

It then considered ““actual confusion” and, specifically, the surveys submitted by adidas
(incidentally, apparently conducted by “Poret,” who also conducted a survey presented by Crocs
in this investigation) and Skechers:

Both adidas and Skechers submitted surveys which support their desired outcome in this
case. ... And both parties expended enormous effort arguing the merits and demerits of the
competing surveys. ... Skechers argues that the adidas survey is flawed because, among
other things, ... the survey’s control was poorly designed. ... adidas attacks the [Skechers]
survey as improperly focused solely on point-of sale confusion, and thus irrelevant to an
analysis of post-sale confusion.

The Court declines to give controlling weight to either survey on the question of actual

confusion, and concludes that this element favors neither party. Given adidas’s strong

showing on the other Sleekcraft factors that the Court has analyzed thus far, the neutrality

of this factor does not preclude a finding that the Skechers shoes are likely to cause
confusion. See Network Automation, Inc. v. Advanced Sys. Concepts, Inc., 638 F.3d at
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1137, 1151 (9™ Cir. 2011) (“actual confusion is not necessary to a finding of likelihood of
confusion under the Lanham Act.”).

Id. at 1245. The Ninth Circuit affirmed. adidas America, Inc. v. Skechers USA, Inc., 890 F.3d 747
(2018).

A second legal principle worthy of mention is that, if after weighing the evidence, the
issue of likelihood of confusion is in doubt, the question will be resolved in favor of the senior
user, particularly when the senior user’s mark is strong and well known. Hewlett-Packard Co. v.
Packard Press, Inc., 281 F.3d 1261, 1265 (Fed. Cir. 2002) (“This court resolves doubts about the
likelihood of confusion against the newcomer because the newcomer has the opportunity and
obligation to avoid confusion with existing marks.”) Judge Learned Hand explained:

Of course, the burden of proof always rests upon the moving party, but having shown the

adoption of a similar trade name, arbitrary in character, I cannot see why speculation as

to the chance that it will cause confusion should be at the expense of the man first in the
field. He has the right to insist that others in making up their arbitrary names should so
certainly keep away from his customers as to raise no question.

Lambert Pharmacal Co. v. Bolton Chemical Corporation, 219 F. 325,326 (S.D. N.Y. 1915)

(“LISTOGEN?” infringed “LISTERINE,” both for mouthwash).
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b. Factors 3 and 4 (Trade Channels and Conditions of Sale)

I also agree with the ID that the Orly Gator and the Classic Clog are marketed and sold in
the same trade channels (Factor 3), but that the conditions of sale of the Orly Gator differ from
the conditions of sale of the Classic Clog (Factor 4), due in large part to a very significant
difference in prices. In considering these two factors, however, it is worth bearing in mind that
“post-sale confusion” is actionable under the Lanham Act (McCarthy § 23:76), and these two
DuPont factors may have little or no relevance to post-sale confusion.

c. Factor 5 (Fame)

I disagree with the ID’s analysis of the fame of the 3D marks on the Classic Clog. As the
ID notes, relevant factors for determining fame include sales, advertising, length of use of the
mark, market share, brand awareness, licensing activities, and variety of goods bearing the mark.
Recot, Inc. v. Becton, 214 F.3d 1322, 1326 (Fed. Cir. 2000); see also Bose Corp. v. QSC Audio
Prods. Inc., 293 F.3d 1367, 1371 (Fed. Cir. 2002) (“[O]ur cases teach that the fame of a mark
may be measured indirectly, among other things, by the volume of sales and advertising
expenditures of the goods traveling under the mark, and by the length of time those indicia of

commercial awareness have been evident.”).

courts from according this factor considerable weight, particularly where both the marks and the
goods are both similar. Indeed, the shape of the athletic shoes in adidas America v. Skechers was
surely not entitled to trademark protection; nevertheless, the court there recognized that, taken
together, “the similarity of the marks, relatedness ¢ f the goods, and ... the ‘use of a common
marketing channel’” are typically the “controlling troika” in a trademark infringement analysis.
Adidas America, Inc. v. Skechers USA, Inc., at 1242; see also VersaTcp Support Sys., LLC v.
Georgia Expo, inc. 921 F.3d 1364, 1371-72 (Fed. Cir. 2019).
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But in my view the 3D Marks (including the pattern of 13 holes on the top of the upper,
the seven trapezoids on the side, the indentation in the heel strap) are not only essential
components of, and inextricably linked to, the “overall look” and the “design” of the famous
Classic Clog, which would be enough to find that the 3D Marks are themselves famous. They
are also precisely what make the Classic Clog distinctive -- as the trademark examiner
concluded. Crocs attempted to register a trademark for the overall look of the Classic Clog; the
examiner rejected that application because it included generic elements:

Applicant seeks registration of a proposed mark described as “a three dimensional

configuration of the outside design of an upper for a shoe”. ... In the present case, the

overall clog shape of the proposed configuration mark and the presence of a defined
midsole and topline collar appear to represent generic elements commonly present in
waterproof strap clogs. These features are nondistinctive and do not function as a mark
because such elements are so common in the industry for such products and are the same
or substantially similar to the designs of competitors’ products such that consumers are
accustomed to seeing such elements on similar products. As such, applicant’s request to
exclude other shoe manufacturers from employing such ubiquitous design elements
cannot be granted.
See, e.g., JX-0001 at CROCS_1TC044602-03 (Letter from USPTO Trademark Attorney to Crocs
Counsel, July 6, 2016). Importantly, the Trademark Examiner further stated that “[t]he
remaining elements of the proposed configuration which appear potentially capable of
distinguishing applicant’s goods comprise the specific shape and placement of
ventilation/drainage holes.” The Examiner suggested a mark description that is identical to the
‘328 Registration, and the marks were registered accordingly, and are therefore presumed to be
distinctive.

The reason Crocs was unable to register the overall look of the Classic Clog is that the

design elements, other than those later registered as the 3D Marks, were found to be generic. It

would make no sense to now find that those generic elements of the Classic Clog are what make

the Classic Clog distinctive and indeed famous. Doing so would place Crocs in a Catch-22.
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ID at 118-19. In my view, these images do highlight the 3D Marks. It is too much to require, as
the ID apparently does, that every individual element of a mark — particularly on a three-
dimensional product — appear in a two-dimensional advertisement. We did not require that in

Foorwear Products, and we should not here.

ii. Fame Survey

In my view, just as the ID erroneously dismisses the evidence of extensive advertising
and sales of the Classic Clog as being based on the “overall look™ of the Classic Clog and
unrelated to the 3D Marks, the ID erroneously dismisses the survey Crocs submitted to establish
fame, conducted by Dr. Pittaoulis, for the same reason.

Dr. Pittaoulis showed 400 survey respondents photographs of three shoes: a Crocs
Classic Clog; an adidas Adilette Aqua slide; and a Shade & Shore flip flop from Target. ID at
79. Each shoe had the branding removed: the ‘CROCS’ logo on the band of the shoe, the Crocs
website URL from the arch of the shoe, and the Crocodile image on the strap fastener (i.e.,
gromet). ID at 79. Dr. Pittaoulis found that 72.5 percent of respondents associated the 3D
Marks, as reflected in the Classic Clog, with one company or brand, with almost all of these
respondents (67.8 percent) naming Crocs as the brand.

The ID dismisses this evidence because “it assesses the overall look of the Classic Clog,
not the 3D Marks.” 1D at 80. But, again, the 3D Marks are essential components of, and
inextricably linked to, the “overall look” of the Classic Clog, and are in fact what distinguishes
this shoe from others, according to the Trademark Examiner, as explained above.® Thus, unlike

the ID, I would find that the Pittaoulis fame survey weighs in favor of a finding of fame.

¥ The ID also states that “[t]he proper stimuli would have isolated the design elements claimed in
the 3D Marks.” ID at 80. I, however, am not aware of any court decisions that require a
registered trade dress to be laboratorically separated from the product it dresses. While the ID
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But even if [ were to agree with the ID that the Pittaoulis survey is unreliable, I could not
agree with its conclusion that this factor weighs “against” a finding of fame. ID at 82. The ID
cites to no survey or other evidence concerning “actual recognition of mark” that would lead one
to reach a conclusion that the 3D Marks are not “widely recognized” or otherwise famous. Thus,
even if one were to agree with the ID’s finding that the Pittaoulis survey is unreliable, one could
conclude only that the survey evidence is neutral, not that it weighs against a finding of fame.’

iil. Conclusion

The Federal Circuit has explained why a famous mark, like the 3D Marks, deserves special
protection:

The fifth duPont factor, fame of the prior mark, plays a dominant role in cases featuring a

famous or strong mark. Famous or strong marks enjoy a wide latitude of legal protection.

... After earning fame, a mark benefits not only its owner, but the consumers who rely on

the symbol to identify the source of a desired product. Both the mark’s fame and the

consumer’s trust in that symbol, however, are subject to exploitation by free riders. A

competitor can quickly calculate the economic advantages of selling a similar product in

an established market without advertising costs.
Kenner Parker Toys Inc. v. Rose Art Industries, Inc., 963 F. 2d 350, 352-53 (Fed. Cir. 1992)
(Reversing TTAB and finding that “FUNDOUGH” was confusingly similar to “PLAYDOUGH”).

The Court in Kenner recalled its earlier decision, in Nina Ricci: “[T]here is ‘no excuse for even

approaching the well-known trademark of a competitor ... and that all doubt as to whether

cites to the IDs in Motorized Vehicles and Footwear Products, the issue in each of those cases
was that the survey did not adequately distinguish between unregistered trade dress (the focus of
those investigations) and other registered marks. Those are very different cases than what we
have here.

? See Converse, Inc. v. International Trade Commission, 909 F. 3d 1110, 1123 (Fed. Cir. 2018)
(“The ITC found that the Butler survey ‘weighs against a finding of secondary meaning,’ ...
relying on the ALJ’s conclusion that the survey was ‘insufficient to establish secondary
meaning,’ ... We see no error in the conclusion that the survey does not establish secondary
meaning, but we are unclear as to the ITC’s reasoning as to why the survey supports the

opposite[.]”).
16
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confusion, mistake, or deception is likely is to be resolved against the newcomer, especially where
the established mark is one which is famous....”” Nina Ricci S.A.R.I. v. E.T.F. Enterprises, Inc,
889 F.2d 1070, 1074 (Fed. Cir. 1989) (quoting Planter Nut & Chocolate Co. v. Crown Nut
Company, 305 F.2d 916, 924-25 (C.C.P.A. 1962)).

In my view, the evidence on the record establishes that the 3D Marks — essential and
distinguishing design elements of the Classic Clog — are famous and deserve protection from free
riders that compete against Crocs by selling molded, foam-based, clog-type footwear with very
similar marks.

d. Factor 6 (Similar Marks in Use on Similar Goods)

The ID finds that the Respondents tried but failed to provide persuasive evidence that
similar marks were in use on similar goods. He therefore finds this factor to be “neutral.” 1
agree that there is no evidence on the record that similar marks are in use on similar goods,
besides the Classic Clog.!® It is unclear to me, however, whether the absence of any evidence
that similar marks have been used on similar goods should render this factor “neutral,” or instead

should support a finding of infringement. !!

197 recognize that Crocs did not assert this factor in support of infringement. But, of course, it is
difficult, if not impossible, to provide evidence proving a negative.

1 1n any event, there is an inconsistency in how the ID treats factors when it finds a lack of
evidence (i.e., “neutral” here instead of in “support”; “against” with respect to fame instead of
“neutral”; and, below, “against” with respect to intent instead of “neutral”).
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e. Factors 7. 8. and 12 (Actual Confusion, Length and Conditions
of Concurrent Use, Potential Confusion)

1. Direct Evidence of Confusion

The ID found that the record contains no persuasive direct evidence of confusion. I, on
the other hand, believe the record provides a modicum of support for finding a likelihood of
confusion.

Crocs relied on two comments posted on the Internet to show actual confusion by
consumers, but the ID finds that neither of these documents necessarily demonstrates confusion:

[Tn CX-0813, the comment reads: “I bought very cheap white crocs at hobby lobby and

Lacey created these [emoji omitted]. Anyone else love crocs??”.”” ... The post in CX-

0815 is similar: “Decorated some hobby lobby crocs. Whatcha think? [sic] Yay, or nay.”

It is unclear whether the authors of these posts thought the Hobby Lobby shoes were

“Crocs” branded shoes or whether they were using the term “Crocs” as a category cf

shoe. Thus, these social media posts are ambiguous at best.
ID at 34-35, emphasis added.

The suggestion that these consumers were referring to “crocs” as a category of shoe is
inconsistent with the ID’s later finding that the Respondents failed to show that the Word Mark
(CROCS) is generic (i.e., whether that term “refer[s] to the genus of goods or services in
question,” quoting H. Marvin Ginn Corp. v. Int’l Ass’n cf Fire Chiefs, Inc., 782 F.2d 987, 989
(Fed. Cir. 1986)). ID at126-28. Thus, while the ID finds that Respondents failed to show that
“CROCS” has “become synonymous with a type of clog-style shoe,” it nevertheless dismisses
evidence of actual confusion based on the possibility that these consumers were referring to
“Crocs” as a synonym for a type of clog-style shoe.!?

Next, the ID addresses the fact that Orly’s own former Chief Operating Officer, Nabeel

Shaikh, mistook an image of the Orly Gator for a Crocs shoe during his deposition. The ID

121 also note there is some inherent tension between the suggestion that Crocs has become a term
designating a category of a clog-style shoe and a finding that its trade dress is not famous.
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dismisses this evidence: “A review of his testimony reveals that Mr. Shaikh assumed the shoe
was a Crocs shoes because it looked like there was a logo on the strap.” 1D at 35 (emphasis
added). I, however, read the testimony to suggest just the opposite. While his explanation of his
mistake is somewhat ambiguous, it seems to me that Mr. Shaikh explained that he could not see
a logo on the strap, and so he assumed the shoe was a Crocs shoe without knowing what logo
appeared on the shoe:

Q. Okay. So when you saw the first image, though, you thought it was a Crocs shoe
made by the company Crocs.

Why did you think that?
A. Could you go back to the first image?
Q. Sure.
A. So as the first image [ couldn ’t tell from the logo on the — on that strap. I couldn’t

see that, so I assumed that was a Crocs shoe because it looks like a — like a logo to me.
(CX-1317C at 50-16-19, emphasis added.) In my view, everything about that testimony, other
than perhaps the nonsensical “like a logo to me” at the end, indicates Mr. Shaikh could not see
the logo and so simply assumed the shoe was a Crocs shoe because it looked like a Crocs shoe.!?

The ID then finds that, even if these examples showed actual confusion, they would be de
minimis in view of the 140,000 pairs of Accused Products Hobby Lobby ordered from Orly. 1D
at 35. It concludes that this evidence of actual confusion has “no probative weight.” It cites
McCarthy in support of that conclusion, who writes, “If there is a very large volume of contacts

or transactions which could give rise to confusion and there is only a handful of instances of

13 The Majority finds that, even if it were to credit his testimony, Mr. Shaikh’s “confusion
occurred during a deposition” and provides “little, if any, evidence of actual consumer confusion
in a more real-life setting.” Majority Opinion at 21-22. But in my view, the fact that Orly’s own
former Chief Operating Officer has trouble distinguishing the 3D Marks from the Orly Gators,
and in a deliberative setting in which all attention is focused on that very issue, provides even
stronger evidence of actual confusion. The Majority also notes that the shoe in the deposition
did not have things like price tags attached to the shoe. But, as stated above and as recognized in
the ID, the statute recognizes post-sale confusion, after prices have been paid and tags removed.
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actual confusion, the evidence of actual confusion may receive relatively little weight.”
McCarthy § 23:14, quoted in ID at 36.

It is more appropriate to give this evidence “relatively little weight,” as McCarthy says,
rather than none at all.

The limited evidence of actual confusion in this case is not unusual and should not lead
one to conclude there must not be any likelihood of confusion. While evidence of actual
confusion can weigh strongly in favor of a finding of confusion, the lack of such evidence
generally should not weigh against such a finding:

Where evidence of actual confusion exists, it will often be the best evidence of likelihood

of confusion, and as a result it receives substantial weight in the likelihood-of-confusion

analysis. However, evidence of actual confusion is not required to establish likelihood of
confusion, both because such evidence can be difficult to obtain, and because requiring
such evidence would compel plaintiffs to postpone legal action until both they and the
consumer have suffered harm from the defendant’s infringing activities.
Mary LaFrance, Understanding Trademark Law, 157 (4™ ed., 2020); see also Harold I. Ritchie,
Inc. v. Cheesebrough-Pond’s, Inc., 281 F.2d 755, 761 (2d Cir. 1960) (“Actual confusion or
deception of purchasers is not essential to a finding of trademark infringement or unfair
competition, it being recognized that reliable evidence of actual confusion is practically almost

(191

impossible to secure.”). As McCarthy explains: “‘[t]he law recognizes that random instances of
confusion often go unreported or unrecorded.” Persons who are truly confused will often never
be aware of the deception. Others who were confused and later learned of their deception will
often not bother to report the fact. Therefore, it is error for a court to find that plaintiff failed to
prove injury caused by actual confusion[.]” McCarthy § 23:12; see also PlayNation Play
Systems, Inc. v. Velex Corp., 924 F.3d 11159, 1167-68 (11" Cir. 2019) (“PlayNation produced

two ultimate purchasers of PlayNation’s Gorilla Playsets swing sets who contacted Velex for

customer service. ... Consumers also posted on retail websites selling Gorilla Playsets swings
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and trapeze bars asking if those items work ‘with the Gorilla Gym indoors.” ...[T]he number of
instances and the type of consumer [support] actual confusion[.] The customers PlayNation
identified are ultimate consumers of the product, to which we give special weight. And the
number of instances need not be large to be probative of confusion. See Sc¢feway Stores, 675
F.2d at 1167 (finding one instance of actual customer confusion sufficient and holding that
‘[a]lthough the number of instances is small, the people confused are precisely those whose
confusion is most significant.’).””). Moreover, post-sale confusion is surely even less likely to go
reported, and those who are confused are less likely to be aware of the confusion.

ii. Survey Evidence

The ID finds that the survey Crocs presented, conducted by Dr. Pittaoulis, is unreliable
because her control does not hold constant elements of the shoe that are not part of the 3D Marks
(e.g., the control did not have a protruded heel or a heel strap, unlike the Classic Clog). 1
agree.'* 1do not believe the Pittaoulis survey supports a finding of infringement.

I disagree with the ID, however, in how to view the survey Orly presented, conducted by
Mr. Wallace. The ID finds that that survey is reliable and supports a finding of no likelihood of
confusion. In fact, it found this survey evidence, combined with differences in point-of-sale

labels and signage, to be “[o]f particular importance” in concluding the Orly Gator did not

14 Specifically, 1 agree with the description of the differences between the control shoe and the
Classic Clog in the ID at page 40, with one important exception: the ID criticizes the control
shoe for being too different from the Crocs shoe by having “dozens and dozens of holes” on the
top of the shoe. But in my view the holes on the top of the shoe should be different from the
Crocs shoe because those holes are a key component of the 3D Marks. “In designing a survey-
experiment, the expert should select a stimulus for the control group that shares as many
characteristics with the experimental stimulus as possible, with the key exception cf the
characteristic whose ir.fluence is being assessed.” (RX-2032 at 399 (Dr. Shari Dimond’s chapter
in the Reference Manual on Scientific Evidence) (emphasis added). The 13 holes at the top of
the shoe is a characteristic that is being assessed.
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shoes are no more objective than one’s judgments about the similarities between the marks and
the shoes themselves, and how those similarities indicate a likelihood of confusion.

f. Factors 9 (Variety of Goods), 10 (Market Interface), and 11
(Right to Exclude)

In my view, factors 9, 10, and 11 are neutral in this case. The ID found that Factor 10
(Market Interface) was not addressed by the parties in this case, and that Factor 11 (Right to
Exclude) was neutral in this case. 1D at 18 and 46. 1 agree.

With respect to Factor 9 (Variety of Goods), the ID finds the fact that Crocs does not use
the 3D Marks on goods other than footwear weighs against a finding of infringement. 1D at 46.
I disagree and believe this factor is neutral in this case. See, e.g., StarStruck Entertainment v.
The Alexander Trust, 2022 WL 17370234 at 22 (TTAB, Nov. 2022). While the use of a mark on
a family of products generally can support an infringement finding, the use of a mark on a single
category of products cannot argue against such a finding, at least in a case like this where one
would never expect the trade dress of a shoe to be used on other products. Indeed, the very terms
of the ‘328 Registration and the ‘875 Registration seem to preclude use on other products: “The
mark consists of a three dimensional configuration of the outside design of an upper for a shoe”
(emphasis added.)

g. Factor 13 (Other Considerations — Intent to Confuse)

The ID is not persuaded by the evidence Crocs presented which it claimed suggested Orly
acted in bad faith and intended to confuse. While one might expect this failure to persuade

would result in a conclusion that this factor is neutral, the ID instead found this factor “weighs

see also McCarthy §24:106 (“[Slurveys are not indisputably accurate measures of public
perception. It is no secret that survey percentages can vary widely depending on which group of
people are asked questions phrased in various ways.”).
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against finding a likelihood of confusion.” This was in error. As the Sixth Circuit explained in
reviewing a finding of non-infringement:
[E]ven if the District Court correctly had ruled as a matter of law that defendant did not
copy plaintiff’s marks intentionally, the District Court misunderstood the legal
significance of this lack of intent by finding that it decreased the likelihood of consumer
confusion. ... [T]he presence of intent can constitute strong evidence of confusion. The
converse of this proposition, however, is not true: the lack of intent by a defendant is
‘largely irrelevant in determining if consumers likely will be confused as to source.” ...
Intent therefore is an issue whose resolution may benefit only the cause of a senior user,
not of an alleged infringer. Accordingly, if the District Court [determines] that defendant
had only good intentions in adopting its name, it must find that this lack of intent neither
reduces nor increases the probability of consumer confusion.
Daddy’s Junky Music Stores, Inc. v. Big Daddy’s Family Music Center, 109 F.3d 275, 287 (6
Cir. 1997) (emphasis in original).'®
h. Conclusion
As 1 see it, the Orly Gator infringes the 3D Marks.!” 1 agree with the ID’s findings that
the marks of the two shoes are very similar, and that the shoes compete directly against one
another, but I would give those facts considerably more weight than the ID does and would find
that they outweigh the survey evidence that arguably argues against a finding of a likelihood of
confusion. I also believe Crocs has established that the 3D Marks are famous, and that fame also
strongly supports a finding of infringement. And instead of finding that Factors 9 (Variety of

Goods) and 13 (Intent to Confuse) weigh against a finding of infringement, I would find they are

neutral in this case.

¥ While I do not base my determination that the Orly Gator infringes the 3D Marks on any intent
to confuse, it is not clear to me that Orly and Hobby Lobby had only good intentions in selling
the Gator. I disagree, for example, with the ID that internal Orly documents and labels that use
the word “croc” or “crocs” can be dismissed as simply “describ[ing] a category of shoes.” ID at
48. That is particularly true given that the term is not generic.

91 also find false designation of source with respect to these goods, as that finding follows from
the finding of infringement.
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evidence of actual confusion.?’ Unlike the ID, I view the 3D Marks as famous, as explained
above, but that has little bearing on the matter, given that I do not believe the Orly Redesign is
similar to the 3D Marks. See 7-Eleven, Inc. v. Lawrence I. Wechsler, 83 U.S.P.Q.2d 1715, 9
(TTAB 2007) (“Even though we have found that opposer’s BIG GULP trademark has a very
high degree of public recognition and renown, this factor alone is not sufficient to establish a
likelihood of confusion. As stated in past cases, if that were the case, ownership of a famous
mark would entitle the owner to a right in gross, and that runs counter to the trademark laws.”).

3. Amoji Garden Clog?!

a. Factors 1 and 2 (Similarity of Marks and Goods)

I agree with the ID that there is “substantial similarity” in the overall appearance of the
accused Amoji Garden Clog and the 3D Marks. What makes this a more difficult case than the
analysis of the Orly Gator is the fact that the Garden Clog is branded with the word “AMOJI” in
the top corner of the upper. However, as the ID stated, this label “may be difficult to see in the
post-sale context, particularly if it is covered by the bottom of a pant leg.” ID at 56. As for
Factor 2, the Amoji Garden Clog and the Crocs Classic Clog are both molded, foam-based, clog-
type footwear; the two products are directly competitive and as similar as two goods can be.

The images speak for themselves:

20 There is less, or no, evidence of actual confusion with the Orly Redesign, compared to the
Orly Gator. For example, as discussed above, Orly’s former COO, Nabeel Shaikh, confused the
image of the Orlay Gator — not the Orly Redesign — for a Crocs shoe during his deposition.

21 The ID found that Crocs either did not allege or did not present evidence demonstrating that
the Amoji Redesigns infringe the 3D Marks, and therefore failed to carry its burden to prove
infringement. ID at 59. I agree.
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b. Factors 3 and 4 (Trade Channels and Conditions of Sale)

I also agree with the ID that the Amoji Garden Clog and the Crocs Classic Clog are
marketed and sold in the same trade channels (Factor 3), and that the conditions of sale of the
Amoji Garden Clog differ from the conditions of sale of the Classic Clog (Factor 4), due in large
part to a very significant difference in prices. ID at 56-57. In considering these two factors,
however, it is worth bearing in mind that “post-sale confusion” is actionable under the Lanham
Act (see McCarthy §23:76), and these factors may have little or no relevance to post-sale
confusion.

c. Factor 5 (Fame)

For the reasons discussed in section 1.B.1.c. above, 1 find the 3D Marks to be famous,
weighing strongly in favor of a finding of infringement.

d. Factor 6 (Similar Marks in Use on Similar Goods)

The ID finds that the Respondents tried but failed to provide persuasive evidence that
similar marks were in use on similar goods. He therefore finds this factor to be “neutral.” My

views here are the same as they were with respect to the Orly Gator. See Section 1.B.1.d., above.
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e. Factors 7. 8. and 12 (Actual Confusion, Length and Conditions
of Concurrent Use, Potential Confusion)

As the ID recognized, Respondents did not present any survey evidence regarding the
Amoji Garden Clog. The finding that this factor “weighs against finding a likelihood of
confusion” is therefore erroneous.”
Thus, there is no evidence for or against actual or potential confusion with respect to the

Amoji Garden Clog. I therefore find this factor is neutral.

f. Factors 9 (Variety of Goods), 10 (Market Interface), and 11
(Right to Exclude)

As explained in section I.B.1.f. above, in my view, factors 9, 10, and 11 are neutral.

g. Factor 13 (Other Considerations — Intent to Confuse

The ID was not persuaded by the evidence Crocs presented which it claimed suggested
Amoji acted in bad faith and intended to confuse, in part because “the Garden Clog bears AMOIJI
branding, which helps to dispel consumer confusion regarding the source of the product.” ID at
59. I agree that there is no evidence of an intent to confuse.

But the ID found this factor “weighs against finding a likelihood of confusion.” As
explained in section 1.B.1.g. above, I disagree that this factor weighs against an infringement

finding. I instead find it is neutral.

23 As the ID states, Crocs did not present any evidence of actual confusion with respect to the
Amoji Garden Clog. Crocs did present survey evidence regarding the Amoji accused products,
but as stated above, I agree with the ID that that survey is flawed and not reliable.
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h. Conclusion

The Amoji Garden Clog infringes the 3D Marks, in my view.?* While I agree with the
ID’s findings that the marks of the two shoes are substantially similar, and that the shoes
compete against one another, I would give those facts considerably more weight than the ID
does. 1 also believe Crocs has established that the 3D Marks are famous, and that fame also
strongly supports a finding of infringement. And, importantly and unlike with the Orly Gator,
because there is no survey or other evidence that there is no actual confusion, I disagree that
Factors 7 and 8 weigh against a finding of confusion; they cannot; they are, instead, neutral.
And, instead of finding that Factors 9 (Variety of Goods) and 13 (Intent to Confuse) weigh
against a finding of infringement, I would find they are neutral in this case.

C. Word Mark

“GATOR.” T agree with the ID that Orly’s use of the word “GATOR” is not likely to
confuse, in large part because “GATOR?” is not similar, in any meaningful sense, to “CROCS”.
As the ID notes, “[t]he fact that one mark may bring another to mind does not in itself establish a
likelihood of confusion as to source.” ID at 61 (quoting Jacobs v. Int’l Mult.foods Corp., 668
F.2d 1234, 1236 (C.C.P.A. 1982) (quoting /n re Ferrero, 479 F.2d 1395, 1397 (C.C.P.A. 1973)).

“CROC.” T also agree with the ID’s conclusion that Hobby Lobby’s use of the word
“CROC” is not likely to confuse, albeit under somewhat different reasoning. With respect to
Factor 1, the ID finds that “CROC” is similar to the word “CROCS”. 1 agree, those two words
are obviously quite similar. However, further analysis is needed under this factor. Hobby Lobby
uses the term “CROC” only on the back of a label, not on the shoe itself (eliminating concerns

over post-sale confusion), and not on the front of the label. The front of the label identifies the

241 also find false designation of source with respect to these goods, as that finding follows from
the finding of infringement.
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brand of the shoe, not as Crocs, but as Hobby Lobby’s “Spring Shop”. Moreover, the term
“CROC” is used on the back of the label as part of a longer description of the product: “SPRING
SHOP-WEARABLE ART/FOOTWEAR-CROC SLIDES”. While I cannot countenance Hobby
Lobby’s argument that it uses the term “Footwear-Croc Slides” simply to describe a type of shoe
(when “CROCS” has not been found to be a generic term), I find it less likely that the use of
“CROC” as part of a longer product description on the back of a label will be likely to confuse
consumers. See Blue Man Productions, Inc. v. Tarmann, 75 U.S.P.Q. 2d 1811, 12 (2005) (In its
analysis of the similarity of the marks, the Board took into account “the different commercial
impressions engendered by the marks” and found that, while the marks themselves were “very
similar in appearance and pronunciation,” the “differences in connotations and the commercial
impressions of the marks ... outweigh the visual and phonetic similarity.”). I therefore discount
the weight of this factor.

I also differ from the ID in my consideration of Factors 7, 8, and 12, regarding actual
confusion. Whereas Crocs offered no evidence of actual confusion, Respondents presented
survey evidence to establish a lack of confusion. While I agree with the ID that this survey
weighs against a finding of confusion, I give it less weight because I find its results somewhat
non-sensical, as I found the Wallace survey with respect to the 3D Marks in section 1.B.1.e.
above. Specifically, while I agree with the ID that “CROC” is similar to “CROCS” and
“GATOR” is not, the Wallace survey found a higher net level of confusion for “GATOR?” (4%)
than for “CROCS SLIDES” (-1%).

Taken as a whole, in my view, Crocs has not met its burden of establishing a likelihood
of confusion between “CROCS” and “CROC?” as that term is used on the label of the good sold

by Hobby Lobby.
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II. DILUTION

A. Fame Analvsis

A threshold and key question for dilution is whether the mark is famous. The ID found
that the Word Mark is famous.? ID at 83. 1 agree.

The ID found that Crocs failed to prove that “the 3D Marks are famous separate and apart
from the Classic Clog as a whole.” 1D at 76-82. I disagree and would find that the 3D Marks are
famous for the purpose of establishing dilution.

As the ID noted, “[f]ame for likelihood of confusion and fame for dilution are distinct
concepts, and dilution fame requires a more stringent showing.” Coach Services, Inc. v. Triumph
Learning LLC, 668 F.3d 1356, 1373 (Fed. Cir. 2012). But the analysis under both concepts is
similar, and Crocs relies on the same evidence to establish fame for both purposes. The ID used
the statutory framework for considering fame in the dilution context to determine fame for
likelihood of confusion as well. ID at 74. Thus, my analysis in section I.B.1.c. above, fully

explains why 1 believe the 3D Marks are famous for the purpose of establishing dilution.?® In

25 The ID reached this finding of fame despite the fact that Crocs did not present any evidence of
“actual recognition of mark” (i.e., it did not present survey evidence), the third factor enumerated
in the statute for considering fame for purposes of dilution. 15 U.S.C. § 1125(c)(2)(A)(iii).
Instead, the ID relied on evidence concerning advertising and publicity (factor 1), sales (factor
2), and federal trademark registration (factor 4).

26 Given the specific statutory framework for considering fame for purposes of dilution,
however, it is important to note that the ID erroneously found that two of the four statutory
factors (factor 1, regarding advertising and publicity, and factor 3, regarding actual recognition
of the mark) weighed “against” a finding of fame, with one remaining factor (sales) “neutral”
and the other (registration) weighing in favor. While the ID did not find persuasive Crocs’
advertising and survey evidence concerning actual recognition of the mark, those findings do not
suggest factors 1 and 3 weigh “against” fame, only that they do not support it. On the other
hand, it is also important to note that federal registration of a mark cannot establish fame on its
own. See McCarthy § 24:106 regarding registration: “One cannot logically inter {sic} fame from
the fact that a mark is one of the millions on the Federal Register. On the other hand, one could
logically infer lack of fame from a lack of registration[.]”
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essence, the ID finds that the overall design and shape of the Classic Clog may be famous, but
that doesn’t mean that the 3D Marks are famous. ID at 77-78. As noted above, however, 1
believe the 3D Marks are key components of, and inextricably linked to, the overall look of the
shoe. And, in fact, they are distinctive elements of the shoe, as the Trademark Examiner found.

B. Dilution by Blurring

1. 3D Marks

Having found the 3D Marks are not famous, the ID did not address the remaining factors
for dilution by blurring. Because I believe the 3D Marks are famous, I would remand to the ALJ
to address the remaining factors for dilution by blurring.

2. Word Mark and “GATOR”

The ID concludes that Orly did not dilute the Word mark by blurring in its use of the term
“GATOR.” ID at 86. I agree with that conclusion, and with the ID’s analysis of Factors 1
(Degree of Similarity), 2 (Degree of Inherent or Acquired Distinctiveness), 3 (Exclusive Use), 4
(Degree of Recognition), and 5 (Intent of User). With respect to Factor 6 (Actual Association), |
rely less on the confusion survey conducted by Respondents than the ID does, as explained
above. Nevertheless, Crocs presented no survey evidence or other evidence of actual confusion
to support its claim of dilution by blurring. Thus, in my view, Factor 1 — the dissimilarities
between “CROCS” and “GATOR” — weighs heavily against a finding of dilution by blurring,
and there is no evidence of actual confusion, survey results or otherwise, to support such a

finding.
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3. Word Mark and “CROC”

The ID concludes that Hobby Lobby did not dilute the Word mark by blurring in its use
of the term “CROC” on the back of its label. 1 agree with that conclusion, and with the ID’s
analysis of Factors 2 (Degree of Inherent or Acquired Distinctiveness), 3 (Exclusive Use), 4
(Degree of Recognition), and 5 (Intent of User). With respect to Factor 1 (Degree of Similarity),
the ID finds that “CROC?” is similar to the word “CROCS”. 1 agree, those two words are similar.
However, as explained above, when understood in its full context, such as the fact that the front
of the label has Hobby Lobby’s brand on it and “CROC” only appears in a longer description of
the product on the back of the label, I believe this factor deserves less weight.

I also differ somewhat from the ID in my consideration of Factor 6 (Actual Association).
Whereas Crocs offered no evidence of actual confusion, Respondents presented survey evidence
to establish a lack of confusion. While I agree with the ID that this survey weighs against a
finding of confusion, I give it less weight because I find its results somewhat non-sensical.
Specifically, while I agree with the ID that “CROC” is similar to “CROCS” and “GATOR” is
not, the Wallace survey found a higher net level of confusion for “GATOR” (4%) than for
“CROCS SLIDES” (-1%).

Taken as a whole, in my view, Crocs has not met its burden of establishing that Hobby

Lobby diluted the Word Mark by blurring in its use of the term “CROC” on the back of its label.
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C. Dilution by Tarnishment

Word Mark. Having found the Word Mark famous, the ID considered the remaining
factors for dilution by tarnishment but found that Crocs failed to provide “any evidence of
quality issues, complaints, or negative associations with the Accused Products, beyond a handful
of conclusory and self-serving statements.” ID at 86. I agree.

3D Marks. Having found the 3D Marks are not famous, the ID did not address the
remaining factors for dilution by tarnishment. Because I believe the 3D Marks are famous, it is
necessary to consider the remaining factors for dilution by tarnishment. I therefore would
remand this investigation to the ALJ to address those factors.

III. VALIDITY

The ID found that the 3D Marks are invalid because they lack secondary meaning. 1D at
92, 126, 149. 1disagree, as explained below.?’

A. The Presumption of Validity

To be valid, a trademark must be distinctive of a product’s source, which, in a case like
this one involving trade dress, must be shown by the mark having acquired distinctiveness — so-
called “secondary meaning.” Converse, 909 F.2d at 1116. A mark has developed secondary
meaning if, “in the minds of the public, the primary significance of the mark is to identify the
source of the product rather than the product itself.” Id.

A registered mark is presumed to be valid and to have acquired secondary meaning. Id.
at 1117. But the presumption of secondary meaning only operates prospectively from the date of

registration. Id. at 1117-18. To establish infringement with respect to use before registration,

271 otherwise agree with the ID’s findings concerning validity. Specifically, I agree that
Respondents failed to show that (1) the 3D Marks are invalid as functional or generic (ID at 87-
92; 126-127); or (2) the Word Mark is generic (ID at 128).
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the mark owner must establish that the mark had acquired secondary meaning before such use
without the benefit of a presumption of secondary meaning. Id. at 1118.

The ID notes that the 3D Marks were registered in 2017 and finds that Orly’s first sale of
its Gator product occurred in April 2016. ID at 94. Thus, it finds that, “with respect to Orly, the
3D Marks are not entitled to a presumption of validity.” ID at 94. While not directly addressing
the issue, the ID appears to find that Orly’s first sale also negates the presumption of validity
with respect to Hobby Lobby and Amoji.

As explained below, with respect to Hobby Lobby and Amoji, I find that the presumption
of validity applies, and that Respondents’ evidence does not overcome that presumption. With
respect to Orly, I find that, while the presumption of validity may not apply, Crocs established
that the 3D Marks acquired secondary meaning before Orly’s first use.

1. Hobbyv Lobbyv and Amoji

In my view, the ID erred in negating the presumption of validity with respect to Hobby
Lobby and Amoji. Converse holds that “[i]n any infringement action, the party asserting trade-
dress protection must establish that its mark had acquired secondary meaning before the first
infringing use by each alleged ir fringer. Converse 909 F.3d at 1116-17 (emphasis added). The
timing of Orly’s first sale is only relevant to Orly and not to the other respondents, Hobby Lobby
or Amoji. Hobby Lobby did not begin selling Gators until 2021. CX-1723 (Hobby Lobby’s
third supplemental response to Crocs’s first set of interrogatories). And there is no evidence that
Amoji sold its first Garden Clogs before the date of registration. See ID at 10-12. Thus, I find
that the presumption of validity applies with respect to Hobby Lobby and Amoji.

The ID finds that its invalidity analysis “would not change if Orly’s first use was on
October 14, 2019” (i.e., after registration of the 3D Marks) because “the survey evidence

affirmatively shows a lack of secondary meaning,” which is sufficient to “overcom[e] the 3D
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Alternatively, at least in theory, the survey results could mean the participants were not
responding to the holes at all but to the overall shape of the clog’s upper, which was common to
both sets of shoes but not covered by the 3D Marks. See ID at 104, 108 (citing RX-0002C
(Hollander) at Q/A 71, 74-76, 79, 82; Hr’g Tr. (Hollander) at 767: 11-13, 815:23-816:3). This
would mean the 3D Marks either do not have secondary meaning or it has not been affirmatively
proven.

I do not accept this alternative explanation. As explained above, and as recognized in the
ID, Crocs initially attempted to trademark the overall shape of the Classic Clog. ID at 5. But the
Examiner rejected the application because the overall shape of the clog’s upper included
“generic elements ... commonly present in waterproof strap clogs.” ID at 5. Thus, it cannot be
that the survey participants associated the overall shape of the shoes with Crocs, when the overall
shape of the shoes has been found to be generic and non-distinctive. As stated above, finding
otherwise would place Crocs in a Catch-22: first its application for a trademark on the overall
look of the shoe is rejected because the elements of the shoe other than the holes and trapezoids
are found to be non-distinctive, whereas the holes and trapezoids are registered because they are
distinctive; then, that more limited trademark covering the holes and trapezoids is found to be
invalid because we cannot tell whether consumers associated those marks, or instead associated
the overall shape of the shoe, with Crocs.

The other evidence concerning secondary meaning is either neutral or leans in favor of
finding secondary meaning. See ID at 111-26. None of these factors affirmatively proves there
is no secondary meaning.

I therefore find that neither Hobby Lobby nor Amoji has overcome the presumption of

validity.
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2. Orly

The ID found that Orly’s first sale of its Gator product (for 1,080 units at a price of
$1,728) occurred in April 2016, before Crocs registered the 3D Marks, and as a result the 3D
Marks are not entitled to a presumption of validity, and Crocs must establish that the 3D Marks
acquired secondary meaning before April 2016. ID at 94. Crocs disputes both the facts and the
law, arguing that there is insufficient evidence to establish that the shoe Orly sold in 2016 is the
Gator, and that, in any event, this single sale to a wholesaler is insufficient as a matter of law to
establish “use in commerce” that would eliminate the presumption of validity. See Crocs’
Petition for Review at 27-33.

Crocs’ factual and legal questions are not without merit.”® But, even if the 3D Marks do

not enjoy a presumption of validity with respect to Orly, I find that Crocs established that the 3D

28 For example, Crocs argues that “use in commerce” should be defined here the same way it is
defined in section 1127 of the Lanham Act to mean a “bona fide use of a mark in the ordinary
course of trade,” which courts have held does not include “sporadic, casual, or nominal” sales.
See Petition for Review at 28. On the other hand, the Federal Circuit and other courts have held
that the “use in commerce” definition of section 1127 — concerning eligibility for trademark
registration — does not apply to trademark ir fringement. See VersaTcp Support Sys., LLC v.
Georgia Expo, Inc., 921 F.3d 1364 1370 (Fed Cir. 2019) (holding that infringement can occur
without even a single sale of an allegedly infringing good but instead through the use of a mark
in advertising brochures). In other words, while a trademark holder must use a mark more than
sporadically, casually, or nominally before that mark may be registered, a trademark holder may
claim trademark ir. fringement based on a single sale (or even no sale at all) of an allegedly
infringing product.

But the issue here — whether a single sale occurring before registration is sufficient to
negate the presumption of valid — arguably concerns neither trademark registration nor
infringement per se; it may be considered a tertium quid. To be sure, the Federal Circuit stated
in Converse that “[i]n any infringement action, the party asserting trade-dress protection must
establish that its mark had acquired secondary meaning before the first ir fringing use by each
alleged infringer.” Converse at 1116 (emphasis added). But this issue did not squarely present
itself in that case, which involved a number of allegedly infringing uses by a number of
respondents in the ten years preceding registration.

And, it seems to me, this situation may be different from a case of infringement like the
one in VersaTcp. In infringement actions, the senior user is seeking relief and so is obviously
aware of the allegedly infringing actions, even if they involve nominal sales or no sales at all.
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Marks acquired secondary meaning before 2016, based on my analysis of the Converse factors,
as described below.

a. Association of Trade Dress with the Source

In my view, as explained above, Respondents’ survey, conducted by Mr. Hollander, is
flawed and does not support the conclusion that consumers do not associate the 3D Marks with
Crocs. Indeed, that is even clearer here, with respect to Orly, given that the question with Orly is
whether the 3D Marks had acquired secondary meaning in 2016, whereas the Hollander survey
was not conducted until six years after the fact. In Converse, the Federal Circuit stated that the
ITC should give a secondary-meaning survey “little probative weight in its analysis, except to
the extent that [it] was within five years of the first infringement by one of the intervenors.”
Converse, 909 F.2d at 1123 (emphasis added).”

b. Length, Degree, and Exclusivity of Use

I agree with the ID that the length, degree, and exclusivity of the use of the 3D Marks
supports a conclusion that the 3D Marks acquired secondary meaning. Consumers have been
exposed to those Marks for 20 years, and those Marks have always been part of the Classic Clog

since the brand first launched in 2002. Crocs had “substantial exclusivity” of the 3D Marks from

There is no reason in that situation to require the trademark holder to wait for the infringement to
repeatedly occur before action may be taken. That rationale does not apply here.

2 In footnote 56, the ID recognizes that the surveys were conducted outside of this five-year
period, but recalls that “it is Crocs who bears the burden of proving secondary meaning.” 1D at
102. This statement is hard to square with the ID’s conclusion, which puts much stock in this
survey: “Here, the survey evidence affirmatively shows a lack of secondary meaning.” 1D at
126.
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each pair of shoes “the soft, comfortable, lightweight, non-marking, and odor-resistant qualities”
that Crocs fans “know and love.” 1D at 123.

In my view, while there may be other attributes that the public associates with and likes
about the Classic Clog, that does not mean the distinctive holes and trapezoids on the shoe have
nothing to do with the substantial sales and customer base behind the Classic Clog. Indeed,
while Crocs’ advertisements often display the 3D Marks, I am not aware of any advertisement on
the record that, for example, highlights the CrosliteTM material.

e. Intentional Copvying

With respect to “intentional copying,” the ID refers back to its findings concerning
DuPont factor 13, in which it addressed the “intent to confuse,” and concludes that “Respondents
did not copy the 3D Marks.” In my mind, this is a different conclusion from the conclusion that
Orly, Hobby Lobby, and Amoji did not intentionally seek to confuse. And, when I look at the
Orly Gator or the Amoji Garden Clog, it appears to me that they in fact did copy, and did intend
to copy, the 3D Marks — that’s why the ID found the products look very similar to the 3D Marks.
(Indeed, unlike with the Gator, Orly, with the Orly Redesign, “sought to design a product that
lacked all the features that Crocs claimed ot [sic] be protected by their intellectual property” and
Orly’s “goal was to develop a product that Crocs would not even accuse of infringement.” The
same certainly cannot be said — and wasn 't said -- about the Orly Gator.) I also question whether
Orly can be found not to have copied the 3D Marks simply because it acquired the design from a
contract manufacturer. Nevertheless, determining intent is a tricky business, and I do not believe
this case turns on this factor. I therefore do not disturb the ID’s finding that this factor is neutral.

f. Unsolicited Media Coverage

The ID states that the evidence shows “the Classic Clog had approximately 25 billion

media impressions in 2020 alone.” ID at 125. And there is ample evidence on the record that

45

Appx000099



Case: 24-1300 Document: 19 Page: 203 Filed: 06/10/2024

PUBLIC VERSION

the media coverage was extensive well before 2016 (e.g., Footwear News first awarded the
Classic Clog “Shoe of the Year” in 2005; see Petition for Review at 1). The ID finds, and |
agree, that this factor supports a finding of secondary meaning.

g. Conclusion

In my view, the 3D Marks (especially the 13 holes, the seven trapezoids, and the indented
heel strap on a Classic Clog) are key components of, and inextricably linked to, the overall look
of the shoe; they are in large part what enables someone to identify a shoe as a Crocs Classic
Clog. By the time Orly arguably sold its first Gator in 2016, Crocs had for fourteen years
consistently used those Marks to identify their shoe, to the exclusion of other shoes. Those
Marks are often found in Crocs’ extensive advertising campaigns, which has contributed to
billions upon billions of dollars in sales revenues over the years. I therefore find that Crocs
established that the 3D Marks acquired secondary meaning long before 2016.

1IV.  DOMESTIC INDUSTRY AND REMEDY

Given my above determinations, I would also remand to the ALJ for further proceedings
and development of the record with respect to the domestic industry requirement, including to
better develop the details regarding Croc’s expenditures and investments on various activities to
enable him to assess which are properly considered in the economic prong analysis and which
are for the activities of a “mere importer” (this latter category may include, for example,
marketing, sales, warehousing, and distribution activities). I would also seek information on
expenditures and investments in other countries relating to the DI products, including those
related to manufacturing, to enable an appropriate quantitative significance analysis to determine
whether there is a domestic industry. Because I would remand on the economic prong, I do not

reach any remedy issues, including remedies against defaulting respondents.
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Network Corp. d/b/a Amoji of Quanzhou, Fujian Province, China (“Amoji”); Skechers USA,
Inc. of Manhattan Beach, California (“Skechers”); SG Footwear Meser Grp. Inc. a/k/a S.
Goldberg & Co. of Hackensack, New Jersey (“SG Footwear”); Cape Robbin Inc. of Pomona,
California (“Cape Robbin”); Dr. Leonard’s Healthcare Corp. d/b/a Carol Wright of Edison, New
Jersey (“Dr. Leonard’s”); Fullbeauty Brands Inc. d/b/a Kingsize of New York, New York
(“Fullbeauty”); Legend Footwear, Inc. d/b/a/ Wild Diva of City of Industry, California (“Wild
Diva”); Fujian Huayuan Well Import and Export Trade Co., Ltd. of Fuzhou, Fujian Province,
China (“Fujian”); Yoki Fashion International LL.C of New York, New York (“Yoki”); Bijora,
Inc. d/b/a Akira of Chicago, Illinois (“Akira”); Hawkins Footwear, Sports, Military & Dixie
Store of Brunswick, Georgia (“Hawkins”); Shoe-Nami Inc. of Gretna, Louisiana (“Shoe-Nami”);
PW Shoes, Inc. a’k/a P&W of Maspeth, New York (“PW?”); 718Closeouts of Brooklyn, New
York (“718Closeouts”); Crocsky of Austin, Texas (“Crocsky”); Hobibear Shoes and Clothing
Ltd. of Brighton, Colorado (“Hobibear”); Ink Tee of Los Angeles, California (“Ink Tee”);
Maxhouse Rise Ltd. of Hong Kong, China (“Maxhouse”); La Modish Boutique of West Covina,
California (“La Modish”); Loeffler Randall Inc. of New York, New York (“Loeffler Randall”);
Star Bay Group Inc. of Hackensack, New Jersey (“Star Bay”); and Royal Deluxe Accessories,
LLC of New Providence, New Jersey (“Royal Deluxe”). The Office of Unfair Import
Investigations (“OUII”) was named as a party.

On November 17, 2021, the Commission amended the complaint and notice of
investigation to add certain new respondents, including Orly Shoe Corp. of New York, New
York (“Orly”); Mould Industria de Matrizes Ltda. d/b/a/ Boaonda of Brazil (“Boaonda”);
Dongguan Eastar Footwear Enterprises Co., Ltd. of Guangzhou City, China (“Eastar”); KGS
Sourcing Ltd. of Hong Kong, China (“KGS”); Fujian Wanjiaxin Industrial Developing, Inc. a/k/a
Fujian Wanjiaxin Light Industrial Developing, Inc. of Quanzhou City, China (“Wanjiaxin”);
Jinjiang Anao Footwear Co., Ltd. (“Anao”); Walmart Inc. of Bentonville, Arkansas (“Walmart”);
and Huizhou Xinshunzu Shoes Co., Ltd. of Huizhou City, China (“Huizhou”), and to terminate
the investigation with respect to Crocsky, Hobibear, and Ink Tee. Order No. 30 (Oct. 21, 2021),
unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (Nov. 17,2021).

The Commission subsequently terminated the investigation with respect to various
respondents on the basis of settlement agreements or consent orders. See Order No. 12 (Aug. 11,
2021) (terminating Skechers), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (Aug. 24, 2021); Order No. 16
(Aug. 26,2021) (SG Footwear) and Order No. 17 (Aug. 26, 2021) (Cape Robbin), unreviewed by
Comm’n Notice (Sept. 24, 2021); Order No. 20 (Sept. 1, 2021) (Dr. Leonard’s), unreviewed by
Comm’n Notice (Sept. 29, 2021); Order No. 22 (Sept. 9, 2021) (Fullbeauty) and Order No. 23
(Sept. 9,2021) (Wild Diva), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (Oct. 7, 2021); Order No. 24 (Sept.
17,2021) (Fujian), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (Oct. 7, 2021); Order No. 25 (Sept. 22, 2021)
(Yoki), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (Oct. 7, 2021); Order No. 26 (Sept. 28, 2021) (Akira),
unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (Oct. 27, 2021); Order No. 27 (Oct. 6, 2021) (Hawkins),
unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (Oct. 29, 2021); Order No. 32 (Nov. 1, 2021) (Shoe-Nami) and
Order No. 33 (Nov. 1, 2021) (PW), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (Nov. 29, 2021); Order No.
34 (Nov. 10, 2021) (718 Closeouts), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (Dec. 6, 2021); Order No.
39 (Jan. 11, 2022) (Eastar), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (Feb. 4, 2022); Order No. 46 (March
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3, 2022) (Maxhouse, Wanjiaxin), unreviewed by Comm'n Notice (March 18, 2022); Order No.
49 (March 15, 2022) (Boaonda), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (April 1, 2022); Order No. 54
(April 22, 2022) (Royal Deluxe), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (May 17, 2022); Order No. 56
(May 6, 2022) (Loeffler Randall), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (May 27, 2022); Order No. 81
(Sept. 28, 2022) (Walmart), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (Oct. 20, 2022). The Commission
also terminated the investigation with respect to KGS for good cause. Order No. 40 (Feb. 1,
2022), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (Feb. 22, 2022).

On June 10, 2022, the Commission found respondents La Modish, Star Bay, Huizhou,
and Anao (“Defaulting Respondents”) were in default and waived their rights to appear, to be
served with documents, and to contest the allegations in this investigation, pursuant to 19 CFR
210.16(b), 210.17(h). Order No. 58 (May 20, 2022), unreviewed by Comm’n notice (June 10,
2022).

On September 13-16, 2022, the ALJ held an evidentiary hearing. On September 30,
2022, Crocs, OUII, and the participating respondents (Orly, Hobby Lobby, and Amoji) filed their
respective initial post-hearing briefs. On October 7, 2022, the parties filed their post-hearing
reply briefs.

On January 9, 2023, the ALJ issued the subject ID finding no violation of section 337
because: (1) Crocs failed to prove that any of Respondents infringes the 3D Marks; (2) Crocs
failed to prove that Orly or Hobby Lobby infringes the Word Mark; (3) Crocs did not prove that
any of Respondents has falsely designated the origin (source) of their accused products or caused
unfair competition; (4) Crocs did not prove that any of the Respondents diluted any of the
Asserted Marks, either by blurring or tarnishment; (5) the 3D Marks are invalid for lack of
secondary meaning; and (6) Crocs waived its infringement contentions against Defaulting
Respondents. ID at 71-72, 83-86, 148-49. The ID also finds that Crocs has satisfied both the
technical and economic prongs of the domestic industry (“DI”) requirement, and it takes no
position on injury. Id. at 130, 149. The ID further finds that Respondents failed to prove the 3D
Marks are invalid as functional or the Word Mark is invalid as generic, and it takes no position
on Respondents’ “fair use” defense. Id. at 128-29, 149.

On January 23, 2023, Crocs filed a petition for review of the ID’s findings. On the same
date, Respondents Orly and Hobby Lobby (“the Orly Respondents”) filed a contingent petition
for review of certain findings should the Commission determine to review the ID. Amoji did not
join in the Orly Respondents’ contingent petition for review or file a petition of its own.

On January 31, 2023, Respondents Orly, Hobby Lobby, and Amoji filed a joint response
to Crocs’ petition for review, and Crocs filed its response to the Orly Respondents’ contingent
petition for review. On the same date, OUII filed a response to both of the petitions for review.

Having reviewed the record in this investigation, including the final ID, the parties’
petitions, and responses thereto, the Commission has determined to review the ID in part with
respect to the ID’s findings regarding: (1) Crocs’s infringement contentions against the lined
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versions of Orly’s Gators were untimely and waived; (2) the 3D Marks lack secondary meaning,
including application of the presumption of validity; (3) Crocs waived its infringement
contentions with respect to the Defaulting Respondents; (4) subject matter jurisdiction; (5)
likelihood of confusion; (6) false designation of origin; (7) dilution; and (8) the technical and
economic prongs of domestic industry. The Commission has determined not to review the
remaining findings in the ID.

The parties are asked to provide additional briefing on the following issues under review:

(A)  Explain whether the evidence of record demonstrates that the shoes that were
allegedly the subject of Orly’s first sale practiced the 3D Marks in question, and
whether they were the same as the Orly “Gator” shoes presently at issue. Explain
whether Orly’s sales activities satisfies the requirements of a “first sale” in this
context and its implications for the presumption of validity of the Asserted Marks
and the burden of proof. Explain whether the evidence is sufficient to overcome
the presumption of validity, if applicable.

(B)  Explain whether the infringement contention presented in Crocs’ pre-hearing and
post-hearing briefs provided sufficient notice and information that Crocs was
accusing the lined version of the accused Orly Gator products of infringement.
Identify any significant, relevant similarities or differences between the lined and
unlined versions of the Orly Gator products for purposes of infringement.

The parties are requested to brief only the discrete issues identified above, with reference
to the applicable law and evidentiary record. The parties are not to brief any other issues on
review, which have already been adequately presented in the parties’ previous filings.

In connection with the final disposition of this investigation, the statute authorizes
issuance of: (1) an order that could result in the exclusion of the subject articles from entry into
the United States, and/or (2) cease-and-desist orders that could result in the respondents being
required to cease and desist from engaging in unfair acts in the importation and sale of such
articles. Accordingly, the Commission is interested in receiving written submissions that address
the form of remedy, if any, that should be ordered. If a party seeks exclusion of an article from
entry into the United States for purposes other than entry for consumption, the party should so
indicate and provide information establishing that activities involving other types of entry either
are adversely affecting it or likely to do so. For background, see Certain Devices for Connecting
Computers via Telephone Lines, Inv. No. 337-TA-360, USITC Pub. No. 2843, Comm’n Op. at 7-
10 (December 1994).

The statute requires the Commission to consider the effects of any remedy upon the
public interest. The public interest factors the Commission will consider include the effect that
an exclusion order and/or cease-and-desist order would have on: (1) the public health and
welfare; (2) competitive conditions in the U.S. economy; (3) U.S. production of articles that are
like or directly competitive with those that are subject to investigation; and (4) U.S. consumers.
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